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          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Good

          3  afternoon. My name is Madeline Provenzano, and I

          4  chair the Committee on Housing and Buildings. I

          5  welcome everybody. I figure you were outside, you

          6  vented, so now you come in here, you want to be nice

          7  and quiet and relaxed and just listen to the

          8  proceedings, right?

          9                 Today the Committee will conduct a

         10  hearing on Intro 523. This bill would impose

         11  conditions on owners of certain Mitchell Lama

         12  developments, conditions that must be met before

         13  they can withdraw from Mitchell-Lama Programs.

         14                 The Mitchell-Lama Housing Program was

         15  created in 1955 under state law to provide

         16  affordable, middle income, rental and cooperative

         17  housing.

         18                 These developments receive either

         19  state subsidies or City subsidies in the form of

         20  low-interest mortgages, and real estate tax

         21  exemptions.

         22                 After 20 years, developments that

         23  were financed after May 1st, 1959, could buy out of

         24  or withdraw from the program.

         25                 Intro. No. 523 contains several
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          2  provisions that its supporters feel will help

          3  preserve affordable housing and prevent the

          4  displacement of Mitchell-Lama residents.

          5                 This legislation would require that

          6  owners who wish to buy out of the program give 18

          7  months notice to HPD, and would require payment of

          8  an administrative fee of $1,000 per unit through

          9  HPD.

         10                 The Department would be required to

         11  conduct a community impact study and evaluate the

         12  expected effect of the buyout on area's housing

         13  stock and rent levels.

         14                 This legislation would provide for

         15  the option of a comprehensive conversion settlement

         16  between residents and owners with regard to

         17  maintenance and building services.

         18                 Intro. 523 would also require

         19  additional verification from HPD, indicating that an

         20  owner who was considering a buyout, has complied

         21  with the requirements of the Mitchell-Lama Program.

         22                 Since the inception of the

         23  Mitchell-Lama Program in New York City, according to

         24  HPD, 21 sponsored developments, representing 19

         25  rentals and two cooperatives, have bought out of the
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          2  program and seven have applications pending.

          3                 Today we will hear testimony from the

          4  Department of Housing Preservation and Development,

          5  representatives of Mitchell-Lama tenant

          6  associations, organizations involved in the creation

          7  and preservation of affordable housing, members of

          8  the real estate industry, and other interested

          9  parties.

         10                 If there is anyone who wishes to

         11  testify who has not signed in, who has not called in

         12  previously, you must sign in or you will not be able

         13  to testify.

         14                 After we hear the Commissioner and

         15  possibly elected officials, all the rest of the

         16  testifiers will be on a three-minute clock.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 The sponsor of the bill, my

         19  colleague, Councilman Gerson, would like to say a

         20  few words, and then I'll introduce everybody.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very

         22  much, Madam Chair. Let me, first of all, Madam

         23  Chair, thank you very much on behalf of my

         24  community, myself, for your leadership and your

         25  commitment to this process and to holding this
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          2  hearing.

          3                 We should know that this is truly an

          4  expedited hearing which would not have been possible

          5  without the commitment of our Speaker Gifford Miller

          6  and without the support and commitment of our

          7  Housing Committee Chair, Madeline Provenzano.

          8                 I will be very brief because we do

          9  have important witnesses to hear from. I just want

         10  to note that we found out today that the Mayor has

         11  introduced legislation in Albany to address this

         12  issue, and I'm sure we'll hear details about the

         13  legislation as the hearing proceeds. I have not had

         14  the opportunity to fully study it, and I'm looking

         15  forward to hearing about it and studying it.

         16                 I just think it's wonderful, Madam

         17  Chair, it's almost a pattern that every time I have

         18  a hearing on a bill or an initiative, low and behold

         19  on that same day the Mayor issues a press release

         20  with his legislation.

         21                 I think he does it purposely so I

         22  have to throw out my prepared remarks, but I'll just

         23  say I welcome, in all seriousness, I welcome the

         24  Administration's engagement on the issue. I have had

         25  many conversations with the Administration prior to
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          2  this hearing on this issue, and I welcome this step

          3  forward from what I can glean of it thus far.

          4                 I just want to make it clear, though,

          5  the initiative which would effect, extend rent

          6  stabilization, the units, Mitchell-Lama units that

          7  opt out of the program that are not currently

          8  covered by rent stabilization is a welcomed step

          9  forward but is not the remedy and is not a

         10  replacement to this bill which we are hearing today.

         11                 I call upon the Administration to

         12  join us and certainly the two are not mutually

         13  exclusive. We can go forward concomitantly and in

         14  tandem and we must, for two essential reasons. First

         15  of all, Madam Chair, we all know the vagaries, if

         16  you will, of Albany, and there is no guarantee that

         17  the legislation will be passed, and there's no

         18  guarantee that the legislation will be passed on

         19  time to deal with the imminent crisis which we face

         20  in my district as well as throughout the City.

         21                 Secondly, rent stabilization is not

         22  the answer to preserving the affordability of the

         23  unit. It is not the answer to assuring that these

         24  units will remain affordable indefinitely or close

         25  to indefinitely and it actually might not even be
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          2  all that helpful to current residents. We all know

          3  that under the current rent stabilization law, and

          4  as a result of recent changes, apartments become

          5  destabilized, destabilized fairly quickly, in

          6  especially Manhattan and especially the areas where

          7  we are talking about where we have a concentration

          8  of rental Mitchell-Lamas not covered.

          9                 So, the phasing in to rent

         10  stabilization certainly does not preserve the unit

         11  as affordable, as part of our city's affordable

         12  housing stock, and does not assure that residents

         13  will be able to afford to remain in their apartments

         14  for as long as they choose, and therefore rent

         15  stabilization currently is not the answer, maybe

         16  part of the solution, and I welcome taking that

         17  step, and as I said, I welcome the Mayor's

         18  addressing the issue, but it must be -- but for both

         19  the political uncertainty and the substantive

         20  shortcoming, we cannot view that as a substitution

         21  to the legislation which we are hearing today.

         22                 That being said, and, again, in the

         23  interest of time, I will dispense with other

         24  remarks, and look forward to the opportunity of

         25  listening and asking questions. I'll just make the
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          2  point, Madam Chair, with this hearing we are --

          3  under your leadership, we are beginning I think one

          4  of the most important discussions and dialogues and

          5  proceedings in this City Council's history, or the

          6  history of this City Council. We face no greater

          7  imperative from a humanitarian standpoint and from a

          8  public policy standpoint than to assure the supply

          9  of a stock of affordable housing. And the best way

         10  and the only way to do that significantly is through

         11  preservation first.

         12                 In my district, Madam Chair, we face

         13  Independence Plaza on the west side and Lands End on

         14  the East Side, the loss combined of over 1,600 units

         15  of affordable housing. Sixteen-hundred because they

         16  are rental Mitchell-Lamas which are phasing out in

         17  which the owners have given, have notice of the

         18  intent to opt out and, again, under current law they

         19  would not qualify for rent stabilization.

         20                 Thousands of individuals who built

         21  these communities, who endured, as I said

         22  downstairs, Madam Chair, the worst of 9/11 remained

         23  and recommitted to their neighborhoods, could be

         24  forced out. That would be a moral shame. That would

         25  be a blemish on our City forever, if we allow the
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          2  expiration of these programs to do what the

          3  terrorists could not, and that is drive them from

          4  their home.

          5                 So, without further ado, and from the

          6  strict public policy standpoint, we appreciate the

          7  Mayor's support for affordable housing. The only

          8  cost-effective way to assure adequate quantities of

          9  affordable housing is preservation first because it

         10  costs far less to preserve than it does to create.

         11                 Madam Chair, we can come up with the

         12  solutions. We can come up with the solutions with

         13  work for residents which work for building owners,

         14  and we maintain our respect for building owners and

         15  recognize their rights and their investments, we

         16  come up with solutions that work for residents, work

         17  for building owners and work for our City. This

         18  legislation of this hearing is the first step, and I

         19  look forward, Madam Chair, with you and my

         20  colleagues and with our communities to getting the

         21  job done.

         22                 Thank you very much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: I ask your

         24  indulgence. This will be a very long hearing, you

         25  will make it a lot shorter if you hold your
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          2  applause. We all know how enthusiastic you are, but

          3  we also would like to move this along, and we would

          4  like to have everyone that wishes to speak be able

          5  to speak.

          6                 So, I ask your indulgence. I also ask

          7  your courtesy. There will be people testifying you

          8  may or may not agree with, refrain from hissing,

          9  booing, any other kind of strange noises.

         10                 I thank you.

         11                 I'd like to introduce my colleagues.

         12  To my left I have Councilman Tony Avella,

         13  Councilwoman Diana Reyna, Councilwoman Gale Brewer,

         14  you've already met that guy. He's not even a member

         15  of my Committee, but I allow him to be here.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I thank you

         17  for that courtesy.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: To my right,

         19  Council Member Kendall Stewart, Council Member

         20  Robert Jackson, and all the rest are my staff who I

         21  need desperately, so they must sit very close to me.

         22  There's been a lot of hard work on this bill. I have

         23  Terzah, Sarah, Andrew and David is hiding somewhere,

         24  but I thank all of them because they really are the

         25  folks behind the Council members. And with that I

                                                            14

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  would like to introduce our Commissioner of Housing

          3  Preservation and Development Jerrilyn Perine.

          4                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: Thank you. Good

          5  afternoon, Chairperson Provenzano, and all the

          6  members of the City Council Committee on Housing and

          7  Buildings.

          8                 My name is Jerilyn Perine and I'm the

          9  Commissioner of the New York City Department of

         10  Housing Preservation and Development.

         11                 To my right with me at the table is

         12  Joe Rosenberg. Joe is our Deputy Commissioner for

         13  Intergovernmental Affairs, and on my left is Julie

         14  Walpert, who is the Assistant Commissioner of

         15  Housing Supervision.

         16                 We're pleased to be here today to

         17  discuss Intro. 523 and the protection of New York

         18  City's Mitchell-Lama housing stock.

         19                 As the Council well knows, the

         20  Mitchell-Lama program was created more than 40 years

         21  ago, pursuant to the New York State Private Housing

         22  Finance Law.

         23                 To make the development of housing

         24  for middle-income New Yorkers a priority for both

         25  the state and the City of New York, the program was
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          2  a tremendous success, resulting in the construction

          3  of 140,000 rental and cooperative units throughout

          4  the five boroughs.

          5                 From the outset the law provided that

          6  the owners may buy out of the program by satisfying

          7  their mortgages and indicating their intention to

          8  buy out as of right after the building is occupied

          9  for at least 20 years.

         10                 Currently, the entire portfolio of

         11  Mitchell-Lama developments in New York City is more

         12  than 20 years old, and therefore eligible to buy out

         13  of the program.

         14                 Those rental properties that were

         15  occupied before January 1st, 1974 are subject to

         16  rent stabilization protections if they buy out of

         17  the program. Those occupied after January 1st, 1974

         18  do not receive such rent stabilization protections

         19  after a buy-out. In many Mitchell-Lama projects, the

         20  development received federal mortgage assistance.

         21  This program known as Section 236, allows

         22  income-eligible tenants to receive special Section 8

         23  rental subsidies known as sticky vouchers when the

         24  HUD mortgage is satisfied.

         25                 These vouchers can be made available
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          2  to households earning up to 95 percent of median

          3  income, which in New York City for a family of four

          4  is $59,600, and will assist tenants whose rents rise

          5  to market, thus protecting them from large rent

          6  increases.

          7                 It's important to note that

          8  approximately 32,000 units of rental Mitchell-Lama

          9  housing was occupied after 1974 and therefore

         10  unprotected by rent stabilization upon buyout.

         11                 Both the City and State have

         12  oversight responsibility for portions of this

         13  portfolio.

         14                 HPD's jurisdiction is limited to a

         15  supervisory role as is the state's. Since all

         16  Mitchell-Lama developments are privately owned, we

         17  are not responsible for the day-to-day management,

         18  but rather professional managing agents are hired by

         19  the developments and handle those daily operations.

         20                 There are also 94 Mitchell-Lama

         21  developments, both rentals and co-ops located in the

         22  City that are supervised by the New York State

         23  Division of Housing and Community Renewal. These

         24  contain approximately 65,000 units.

         25                 Originally there were 140,000 units
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          2  constructed in the 1960s and early seventies.

          3  Ninety-six developments were co-ops, 173 were

          4  rentals, 116 developments were sponsored by the

          5  State, and today would fall under their

          6  jurisdiction, 153 sponsored by the City and

          7  therefore falling under ours.

          8                 Of the total original portfolio of

          9  Mitchell Lama housing, 43 developments with

         10  approximately 17,000 units have bought out. Again,

         11  this is both State and City supervised together now,

         12  of which 22 were the state-sponsored rentals, 19

         13  city-sponsored rentals and two City-sponsored

         14  cooperatives.

         15                 The number of developments currently

         16  remaining in the Mitchell Lama portfolio, are 226

         17  developments with approximately 122,000 units. Of

         18  this total today there are 132 developments which

         19  are rentals with approximately 54,000 apartments.

         20                 Of these, 30,000 are supervised by

         21  the State, another 24,000 supervised by the City.

         22                 The Council bill before us today is

         23  ambitious and well-intended, and the Administration

         24  recognizes the Council's commitment to the

         25  preservation of Mitchell Lama Housing. Ultimately,
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          2  however, we believe the bill is flawed in its

          3  attempt to protect this essential housing stock and

          4  its residents. The bill primarily focuses upon the

          5  development of a community impact statement and the

          6  attempt to mitigate the result of buyouts of City

          7  supervised Mitchell Lamas.

          8                 The entire portfolio of post-1974

          9  state-supervised rental units, which numbers some

         10  19,000 apartments would be unaffected by this

         11  legislation, further perpetuating the split between

         12  some Mitchell Lama tenants who are more vulnerable

         13  than others when an owner buys out of the program.

         14                 Intro. 523 specifically requires that

         15  the owner of a development contemplating a buy-out

         16  fund a community impact study at $1,000 per unit.

         17  The study is designed to determine how the buy-out

         18  will affect tenants living in post-1974 City

         19  Mitchell-Lama developments, which due to their date

         20  of occupancy are not currently protected under rent

         21  stabilization.

         22                 Following its completion the owner is

         23  required either to directly mitigate the impact by

         24  implementing recommendations, or deposit funds with

         25  the City in a segregated account to fund the
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          2  recommendations.

          3                 The City Law Department has

          4  determined that these provisions are inconsistent

          5  with state law making its future uncertain. The bill

          6  also contains vague guidelines for determining how

          7  the impact on how specific Mitchell-Lama

          8  developments can be mitigated.

          9                 Our concern is that this initiative,

         10  although providing many hurdles for developers will

         11  neither encourage Mitchell-Lama owners to stay in

         12  the program, nor prevent an owner ultimately from

         13  buying out. We think that there's a better approach

         14  that will help to preserve this housing stock and

         15  protect the Mitchell-Lama tenants of our City.

         16  Everyone in this Chamber is acutely aware that the

         17  escalation of market rate rents in certain areas has

         18  made buying out of the program an increasingly

         19  attractive option for some owners of Mitchell-Lamas.

         20  As was announced by Mayor Bloomberg earlier today,

         21  we have developed a series of broad initiatives,

         22  including state legislation, that will address these

         23  issues that confront the Mitchell-Lama developments,

         24  their owners and their residents.

         25                 There are basically three broad
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          2  categories of Mitchell-Lama developments: One is a

          3  category of buildings located in high-market areas.

          4  Tenants in such projects that are not subject to

          5  rent regulation protections upon leaving the program

          6  may face significant high rent increases upon

          7  buy-out and could be threatened with displacement

          8  and eviction.

          9                 It's important to note again that the

         10  sole criteria for protecting tenants through rent

         11  stabilization is exclusively the date of occupancy.

         12                 As the Mayor indicated this morning,

         13  the Administration will seek the passage of state

         14  legislation that will extend rent stabilization

         15  protections to all Mitchell-Lama rental buildings

         16  that were occupied after 1974, thereby ensuring that

         17  such tenants will be protected from significant rent

         18  increases and arbitrary evictions.

         19                 At the same time, we recognize the

         20  needs of owners who risked their equity and invested

         21  and maintained these properties for decades.

         22  Therefore, the legislation will also provide such

         23  owners with a pro-rata real estate tax exemption on

         24  those apartments in rent stabilization if tenants

         25  are not otherwise entitled to other rental subsidies
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          2  like the special Section 8 assistance.

          3                 The second group consists of

          4  Mitchell-Lamas in neighborhoods where the market

          5  rents upon buy-out would be similar to the rents

          6  currently paid by the tenants.

          7                 We do not think these tenants would

          8  be at high risk of rent increases or displacement

          9  necessarily, but would like to provide the owner

         10  with the financial incentive and an option of

         11  keeping such developments in the program and

         12  protecting the existing tenants if a buy-out does

         13  occur.

         14                 Currently, such owners cannot

         15  refinance and take equity out of the project because

         16  of the six percent cap on return in the

         17  Mitchell-Lama program. They are compelled to buy-out

         18  if they require a greater return on their

         19  investment.

         20                 To address this issue, the State

         21  Legislation proposed by the Administration will

         22  include a provision which would permit owners to

         23  remain in the Mitchell-Lama program to remove the

         24  cap on equity. We hope that this financial incentive

         25  will induce some owners to remain in the program.
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          2                 A third group includes Mitchell-Lamas

          3  in weak market areas that are not at risk of a

          4  buy-out but are in need of major capital repairs.

          5  They are often unable to attain conventional

          6  financing and could not support additional debt for

          7  the rehabilitation and upgrading of their

          8  development.

          9                 It's important to address all of

         10  these challenges by protecting the Mitchell-Lama

         11  residents and encouraging owners to remain in the

         12  program, and make below-market financing available

         13  for projects in need of capital repair.

         14                 Mayor's housing plan announced last

         15  December contains $50 million to address the repair

         16  needs of the distressed Mitchell-Lama housing stock.

         17                 This fund will be used for the

         18  upgrading and replacement of boilers, elevators,

         19  windows and many other building systems, again, in

         20  buildings which could not support conventional debt

         21  service.

         22                 The Mayor's Neighborhood Investment

         23  Advisory Panel has been working hard to create a

         24  program for these funds, and we expect their work to

         25  be completed shortly. It's important to note that
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          2  the Administration's State Legislative proposal

          3  covers all City and State supervised rental

          4  Mitchell-Lamas, provides owners with real estate tax

          5  relief for their newly rent stabilized apartments,

          6  preserves an owner's right to buy out of the

          7  program, creates a financial incentive for owners to

          8  remain in the program, and protects by mandating

          9  that all tenants in Mitchell-Lama rental buildings

         10  that buy out of the program will be governed by New

         11  York State's Rent Stabilization Law.

         12                 The Mitchell-Lama program has been

         13  with us since 1955. As more and more Mitchell-Lama

         14  projects have aged, they have all reached the

         15  20-year deadline making them eligible for buy-out.

         16  In these developments live the residents of our

         17  City, our teachers, police officers, nurses,

         18  firefighters, HPD employees and their families. We

         19  need to work together to protect them and this

         20  housing stock while ensuring that the rights of

         21  owners who have in good faith complied with all the

         22  terms of the program remain untampered with.

         23                 We applaud the Council's commitment

         24  to preserve the Mitchell-Lama housing stock, and

         25  hope that we can work together with the Council, the
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          2  State Assembly, the State Senate and the Governor to

          3  achieve passage of this crucial legislative

          4  initiative and protect the viability of this

          5  important housing stock.

          6                 Thank you, and we would be happy to

          7  answer any questions you might have.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you,

          9  Commissioner.

         10                 We've also been joined by, I think

         11  Council Member Quinn is back there, and Council

         12  Member Leroy Comrie.

         13                 I have one question which you really

         14  addressed towards the end of your statement, and I

         15  think, you know, the Mayor's announcement was great.

         16  I agree with my colleague, Councilman Gerson, but I

         17  believe this has been tried in the past. I think

         18  Silver had a bill that would have addressed this,

         19  and it failed.

         20                 Why do you think the climate would be

         21  different now, or is it? I mean, do we have more

         22  clout? What is the outlook that this could possibly

         23  happen?

         24                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: Well, I think

         25  there's a few things. I think that the climate
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          2  actually is a little different, and I think that

          3  over the last few years, as the issues of

          4  Mitchell-Lama buy-outs have actually become a

          5  reality for people rather than just something that

          6  theoretically was going to happen at some point in

          7  time in the future.

          8                 I think people, you know, both here,

          9  but also in Albany, have understood that there's a

         10  much greater sense of urgency now than there ever

         11  was before, so I do think the climate is different.

         12  I think it was probably hard ten years ago to get

         13  people to really focus on what they might need to do

         14  legislatively in Albany for a stock of housing that

         15  in effect still had not most of it reached this

         16  20-year deadline. So, that's one thing.

         17                 I think also this bill is a little

         18  different, although we certainly look forward to

         19  working with all the legislative leaders in Albany

         20  to come together with a bill that everyone will

         21  support. But I think it's different in two aspects;

         22  one is that we're actually creating a financial

         23  incentive for owners who might try to remain in the

         24  program, and, again, I think it's important for

         25  people to remember that the vast majority of
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          2  Mitchell-Lama units are actually not in high market

          3  communities, and the issues that they are facing are

          4  owners who have to ask themselves, if I simply want

          5  to refinance and get slightly better return than six

          6  percent, my only recourse for doing that is to buy

          7  out completely of the Mitchell-Lama program first.

          8  He must do that.

          9                 So, you know, we'd like to change

         10  that so that we can actually create some incentives

         11  for owners to stay in.

         12                 So, the second piece is that where we

         13  have extended rent stabilization and the original

         14  bill certainly included that provision as well, in

         15  this case we are creating really a one-for-one tax

         16  exemption for every unit that goes into rent

         17  stabilization where the owner is only collecting

         18  that rent stabilized rent and that was a bargain

         19  that was not part of his original bargain, I

         20  understand that. So, we are going to keep that rent

         21  at the lower Mitchell Lama -- not the rent, I'm

         22  sorry, the tax exemption, we're going to keep that,

         23  the taxes owed, at the existing lower Mitchell-Lama

         24  taxes and not have the taxes increase.

         25                 Those taxes will go up for the owner
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          2  over time, but only upon vacate by the existing

          3  tenants, and the unit still has to remain in rent

          4  stabilization.

          5                 So, I think there are more incentives

          6  to owners here, and I think the bill reflects an

          7  understanding that there has to be a balance between

          8  protecting the needs of tenants but also encouraging

          9  owners to be induced to stay in and to not be -- you

         10  know, and to have a financial incentive to accept

         11  rent regulation.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you

         13  very much.

         14                 I now have questions from my

         15  colleagues.

         16                 Council Member Brewer.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         18  much, Madam Chair.

         19                 I first want to tell HPD, and let

         20  everyone know that because we have so many

         21  Mitchell-Lamas in our district on the west side at

         22  21, we are in constant contact with HPD and we have

         23  nothing but absolutely but absolutely fabulous

         24  support in terms of making sure that although we do

         25  not support these buy-outs that each time one has
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          2  occurred, we have the utmost support in trying to

          3  make sure the sticky vouchers, and that the Lap

          4  Program, which I'll talk about, and that all the

          5  ways in which HPD can be helpful they are, and I

          6  want to say that they really are very, very helpful

          7  on all levels.

          8                 I want to make that clear.

          9                 I also want to indicate, in terms of

         10  our bill and your proposal, this is where I'm

         11  confused, in that we have so much, unfortunately,

         12  experience working in the Mitchell-Lama community,

         13  this is what we find.

         14                 First of all, if you talk about the

         15  difference between number one and number two, you

         16  talk about two different kinds of neighborhoods.

         17  Obviously the West Side would fall into number one,

         18  in terms of a high income. But how would one know if

         19  one is in a one or two in something like a

         20  gentrifying area. I think that's a very gray

         21  discussion. So, how have you thought about that?

         22                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: First of all,

         23  let me say the bill that we're introducing doesn't

         24  draw any distinctions between these groups, so, you

         25  know, the rules would apply to everybody equally.
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          2                 What I was trying to do by breaking

          3  it up into broad categories was to just talk about

          4  the different parts of the bill that I think are

          5  going to be more effective, you know, for some

          6  groups rather than others. I think the important

          7  piece in a high-market area is going to be the

          8  extension of rent stabilization.

          9                 The inducement option for owners to

         10  remain in the program in order to increase,

         11  eliminate the six percent cap on return, probably

         12  won't induce a lot of owners in a high-market area

         13  to stay in, but in areas where, and I think the

         14  difference is not that difficult to find

         15  necessarily, it's essentially where the

         16  Mitchell-Lama rents aren't that different from the

         17  other rents in that community, and I think in those

         18  groups we see a lot of those buildings in the Bronx,

         19  for example, where in fact the Mitchell-Lama rents

         20  have kind of kept pace with generically -- there's

         21  obviously going to be difference in an individual

         22  project, but for the most part they're not wildly

         23  out of kilter with what the existing market rents

         24  are.

         25                 So, we think for that group, we're
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          2  hoping that by allowing some of those owners to

          3  refinance, to take a greater return on their equity,

          4  that they actually might keep the income-based

          5  restriction to go with the Mitchell-Lama program.

          6  So, it doesn't mean that we have to actually

          7  differentiate, I think really we're saying the

          8  owners themselves can differentiate and elect to

          9  stay in, if that makes sense for them from a

         10  business point of view.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Obviously, I'm

         12  selfish because it would not apply to the 21 on the

         13  west side where there is a market difference between

         14  the Mitchell-Lama rent currently and a market rent.

         15                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: Yes, again, it

         16  would apply legally, but, you know, the inducement

         17  would probably not be enough, we don't think --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right.

         19  Absolutely.

         20                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: -- For in those

         21  communities to keep an owner in the Mitchell-Lama

         22  program.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: The next

         24  question I have is, say, for instance this happens

         25  and we could talk about the fact that we're very
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          2  concerned because we have so many current pending

          3  proposals. I know 733 Amsterdam which is, of course,

          4  stabilized, but it just got its notice yesterday

          5  which is an incomprehensive written notice from the

          6  owners. But they are on notice as of yesterday.

          7                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: They get

          9  nervous because they don't know, for instance, what

         10  the future lies.

         11                 How would one under your bill

         12  determine what the stabilized rent is?

         13                 Because obviously in stabilization we

         14  have a challenge in a community like Manhattan where

         15  you have rents that quickly get to $2,000 a month,

         16  and then we face vacancy decontrol and we don't have

         17  affordable housing left anymore.

         18                 How would your bill address that? I

         19  worry that stabilization isn't a cure here.

         20                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: Well, again,

         21  stabilization is what we're talking about. We're not

         22  talking about a different system for these units. We

         23  would propose that, first of all, you're not really

         24  asking me this so let me just make this clear, what

         25  we asked, what the Mayor said today is that when we
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          2  introduce this bill we're saying that the bill when

          3  passed, which, you know, obviously the legislative

          4  session is not going to meet until December and so

          5  there's a process to get a bill introduced, we can't

          6  introduce it tomorrow, they're not in session. We

          7  don't know exactly when it might pass, but we're

          8  saying the effective date is as of today.

          9                 Now, that's important to make it

         10  clear to owners that we are going to work very

         11  aggressively to make sure this bill passes, and that

         12  when it does it is effective as of today.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So it's

         14  retroactive.

         15                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: To today.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I got it.

         17                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: Effective today.

         18  So, you know, we don't want that period of time

         19  between now and how long it takes the legislator to

         20  act to create a frenzy of owners seeking to buy out

         21  before this bill is passed. That won't help them if

         22  they do that.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: That's helpful

         24  to know.

         25                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: Now, in the
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          2  other piece, in terms of rent stabilization, nothing

          3  is a panacea, and I would not ever in life ever

          4  suggest that there's ever one perfect answer that

          5  solves every problem. The way the rent in rent

          6  stabilization would be set here, it would work

          7  exactly the way it works in the pre-1974

          8  Mitchell-Lamas that buy out, which is that they go

          9  into rent stabilization with their last existing

         10  Mitchell-Lama rent.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Yes.

         12                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: So, that's what

         13  enters the system, and that's what kicks off

         14  whatever the future issues are. Obviously the people

         15  have their lease, their lease is going to expire at

         16  some different staggered points in time, and when it

         17  does it must be renewed pursuant to rent

         18  stabilization. You know, with whatever, if there are

         19  RGB increases that are applicable.

         20                 So, you know, one of the good things

         21  about doing it this way is, we actually have the

         22  pre-1974 stock to look at to answer a lot of our how

         23  would this work question because we can look at that

         24  stock which actually goes into rent stabilization

         25  after buy-out and see some of what happened there.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: A vacant

          3  apartment, and one example in our district, a

          4  building is privatized, it has something close to 20

          5  vacant apartments. That would mean under your

          6  scenario that those would be market; is that a

          7  correct statement? Or would they go with the last --

          8  as we know, in the private sector it is almost

          9  impossible to figure out what that rent was.

         10  Somebody moved in from Minnesota, they don't protest

         11  and we're off and to the races with a market rate,

         12  even though it perhaps should be stabilized.

         13                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And so how

         15  would that work in your scenario?

         16                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: We're talking

         17  about if it was still in Mitchell-Lama today and

         18  then it was going to buy out.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So, they love

         20  to get, owners love to get vacant apartments.

         21                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: It is a

         23  treasure.

         24                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: You know, I

         25  think that that's a good point, and I actually don't
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          2  even want to give you an answer off the top of my

          3  head.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: It's something

          5  to be considered.

          6                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: It's something

          7  to be considered, and I guess the way I would look

          8  at it and, you know, again, I think we should talk

          9  more about it. The way I would look at it is, every

         10  unit, first of all, before it bought out, we would

         11  certainly have to be able to account -- many times

         12  those vacant apartments are actually needed by the

         13  existing Mitchell Lama people in that building.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I know.

         15                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: So, I mean that

         16  need would have to be taken care of first.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: After that is

         18  over and done?

         19                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: That's right.

         20                 And I don't think -- we are certainly

         21  not looking to create some sort of a loophole that

         22  would incentivize owners to have vacant apartments

         23  upon buy-out.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right,

         25  something to think about.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: So, I think, you

          3  know, that is a very good point, and we should make

          4  sure that that is incorporated in this bill.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I don't want

          6  to take more time, Madam Chair. People have

          7  questions. Thank you very much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you

          9  very much.

         10                 Council Member Stewart, you're on.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you.

         12  Thank you, Madam Chair.

         13                 Commissioner, you state here that the

         14  City Law Department has determined that these

         15  provisions, you're talking about the provisions are

         16  from Intro. 523?

         17                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: Correct.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Are

         19  inconsistent with State law. Could you highlight

         20  what the inconsistencies are?

         21                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: You know, I

         22  would love to, but, you know, not being a lawyer,

         23  I'm not sure that I can.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I think that

         25  you have a lawyer next to you, right?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: Yes, but he

          3  wasn't the Law Department's determination. Do you

          4  have an answer?

          5                 We can get you the right answer from

          6  the Law Department, which is probably the answer

          7  that I could give you, but we'll let Joe try to

          8  explain it.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ROSENBERG: Well,

         10  as the Commissioner stated, the Mitchell-Lama

         11  program is governed by Article 2 of the Private

         12  Housing Finance Law, which specifies the provisions

         13  that one has to comply with in order to buy out.

         14  And, again, as the Commissioner said, we will get

         15  further information from the Law Department, but the

         16  general basis of their conclusion is that 523 is

         17  violative of the ability of an owner to buy out

         18  after having complied in good faith with the program

         19  for a 20-year period. That really is it in a

         20  nutshell. Anything more than that I can't really

         21  opine on, but that really is the basis of their

         22  conclusion.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: So what

         24  you're saying basically, if we were to pass this

         25  523, Intro. 523, it will be futile? It wouldn't do
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          2  good?

          3                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: All I'm saying

          4  is that, you know, the Law Department has made this

          5  determination and basically I think it would mean

          6  that it would, you know, potentially be vulnerable

          7  to legal challenges. I mean, again, I'm not a lawyer

          8  and we don't have the Law Department here, I don't

          9  to be too definitive on what I think would happen,

         10  but I think if they're saying that there is an issue

         11  there, basically opens the door to vulnerability to

         12  legal challenges which the bill probably wouldn't be

         13  able to withstand. But, you know, who knows.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: My next

         15  question is, this bill was introduced some time ago,

         16  and I guess you knew about it, and why is it that we

         17  wait until the day or the morning of the time when

         18  we are going to be voting on it that you come out

         19  with a new -- you know, why you wait until this last

         20  minute?

         21                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: I think what

         22  happened here was, you know, sure, we've been

         23  working on the State legislative piece for a little

         24  while and anticipated introducing it in the new

         25  legislative session. Again, they're on a different
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          2  calendar, unlike the City Council, which works 12

          3  months of the year. The State legislature -- okay,

          4  they work but they're not in session all the time,

          5  so we couldn't have introduced a bill prior to

          6  December. So, we were basically in the process of

          7  putting together our State Legislative agenda. This

          8  would have been part -- this is part of that and

          9  just would have followed through that process.

         10                 We didn't want, you know, we know how

         11  much work the Council puts into this, so as it

         12  became clear that we actually were going to have a

         13  bill that we really felt could be introduced, it

         14  just takes a little while to get through all the

         15  lawyers and things to get to that point in time,

         16  that we didn't want this process to go without you

         17  knowing it.

         18                 If you hadn't been doing this, we

         19  probably wouldn't have talked about our bill until

         20  probably, you know some time early November or early

         21  December when Albany was going to be in session and

         22  we were actually going to do it.

         23                 So, you know, there was a confluence

         24  of timing that just worked out this way.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I am just a
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          2  little naive as far as politics is concerned. I

          3  thought you would have been able to reach out to the

          4  sponsor of the bill, this current bill, and say,

          5  well, listen, we have something, let's see if we can

          6  sit down and discuss the current bill and maybe

          7  there is something there that we can work out, maybe

          8  we can work with the City Council to bring the bill

          9  through in Albany.

         10                 I just felt, I don't feel comfortable

         11  in the way it is being done, I think even though you

         12  are from the Administration's side and we are from

         13  the Council's side, that we can work together.

         14                 If we are doing something that you

         15  feel that, as you said here, the provisions are

         16  inconsistent, and you wanted to do something, I

         17  thought you would have reached out to the sponsors

         18  and just sit down, get the lawyers together and sit

         19  down and discuss it --

         20                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: And I think

         21  we're happy to do that.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: -- Before we

         23  add all this big fanfare.

         24                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: Yes. Again, I

         25  think the timing just didn't work out, that we
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          2  actually didn't get sign-off on a lot of what we

          3  were doing internally in the agency until very

          4  recently. We expect to work with the Council

          5  leadership on this.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you

          7  very much. Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Council

          9  Member Gerson.

         10                 And, again, I ask you to keep your

         11  sentiments low key.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you,

         13  Madam Chair.

         14                 Good afternoon, Commissioner.

         15                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: Good afternoon.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And I just

         17  want to echo the sentiments of my colleague, Gale

         18  Brewer, I have enjoyed and continue and expect to

         19  continue to be able to enjoy a wonderful working

         20  relationship with your Department, especially with

         21  the gentleman to your right. Don't hold that against

         22  him.

         23                 I just have a few points for

         24  clarification. Am I correct in presuming of all the

         25  different provisions on our bill, you have only
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          2  focused on the -- you have only focused on the

          3  impact study provision that therefore you have no

          4  objection to, or, in fact, you support all the other

          5  provisions of our bill; would that be correct?

          6                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: You should never

          7  presume that, no.

          8                 I think that what I was trying to say

          9  in my testimony really was that to a large degree I

         10  think we saw that as kind of the most problematic

         11  part of it, the impact statement, how it would

         12  actually be done, and how it would work, and then I

         13  think the Law Department's comment, you know, for me

         14  kind of made a lot of this moot. You know, I'm

         15  certainly happy to talk about the other provisions.

         16  If you would like, I think my main issue is not so

         17  much even with the individual provisions, that it

         18  only -- there's no way to, you know, you're creating

         19  again this two-tiered system, units that are under

         20  State supervision and units that are under City

         21  supervision.

         22                 So, for units under City supervision,

         23  they would get these special privileges, these

         24  others would not.

         25                 So, you know, that for me applies to
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          2  all the provisions. I mean, I don't, you know I

          3  don't think it's good to, again, perpetuate division

          4  between Mitchell-Lamas based on an arbitrary

          5  distinction.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I agree with

          7  you 100 percent, but this is the case that we did

          8  not create that two-tier system, that two-tier

          9  system was created for us by the legislation and the

         10  system which in effect established the two

         11  categories of City regulated and State regulated,

         12  and therefore we as the City Council, you know, I'm

         13  sure would love nothing better than to be able to

         14  deal with the full compliment, but if under the

         15  system given to us we are only enabled to deal with

         16  the City regulated, certainly saving some and

         17  hopefully setting a precedent to save all is better

         18  than throwing up our hands and saving none.

         19                 So, while I agree with you, I don't

         20  think it's fair to blame the bill or us on this

         21  two-tier approach, that's the system which we have

         22  to deal with.

         23                 But let me just ask you briefly about

         24  those other two provisions, or two of the other

         25  major provisions of the bill, one is the extension
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          2  of the review period time; is it not the case that

          3  HPD not too long ago on its own by its own

          4  administrative determination extended the review

          5  time period for the opt out?

          6                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: I don't know.

          7                 Julie, did we?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WALPERT: In

          9  February --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Could you talk

         11  into the mic?

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WALPERT: Can

         13  you hear me now?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Yes.

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WALPERT: In

         16  February we amended our rules and extended the

         17  notification from six to 12 months.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So, you

         19  extended it from six to 12 months. That was without

         20  any state legislation?

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WALPERT:

         22  Correct.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I mean, given

         24  the current housing crunch that we're in, what would

         25  be the harm with another six-month extension?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: You know, again,

          3  I never said that I thought there was great harm

          4  with a six-month extension.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay.

          6                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: What I'm saying

          7  is that, you know, I think the bill has a real

          8  potential to not be able to withstand any legal

          9  challenge so that whether it says 12 or whether it

         10  says 18, may just never be able to see the light of

         11  day.

         12                 And the other problem is that you

         13  might think it is important if we're trying to -- as

         14  I think you are, you know, trying to have a global

         15  fix, we obviously in our administrative procedures

         16  only affect our own administrative authority, but I

         17  think we would all like to see all 32,000

         18  Mitchell-Lama rental units that are post-74,

         19  protected in similar ways.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: By the way,

         21  your extension from six to 12 months, that only

         22  affected City regulated, that did not affect state

         23  regulated; is that correct?

         24                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: We can only

         25  affect our own administrative plan.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Precisely.

          3                 The other provision of the bill I

          4  wanted to ask you about is I think a very important

          5  provision, a maintenance and, you know, I'll

          6  summarize it because of time and the technical

          7  details may not be germane at this point, but the

          8  maintenance exit audit, which would in effect

          9  require owners upon opting out to do a maintenance

         10  audit and to take care of any repairs that were

         11  found not to be taken care of at that point; do you

         12  have any problems with that provision of the bill?

         13                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: I do, because I

         14  think it was a little vague. If I recall, this is

         15  sort of the whole idea about not just maintenance,

         16  but also whether all the rules of the program were

         17  met --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: In other

         19  words, showing that the owner had complied with what

         20  he was supposed to comply with.

         21                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: Yes. I think it

         22  was a little vague. I think it would be very

         23  difficult to actually implement.

         24                 You know, again, I don't disagree

         25  with the intent of what you were trying to do here.
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          2  So, I don't want to make my comments seem really at

          3  odds with what your objectives were here because

          4  they're really not. And I viewed it as a way to

          5  create both some impediments to buying out, and also

          6  to create some fixes for situations that would have

          7  impacts upon buyout.

          8                 And, you know, I just thought it was

          9  vague, I think from a point of view of actually

         10  having to implement it, it would be fairly

         11  difficult.

         12                 Again, I think the legal challenge

         13  issue is fairly significant for us, but, again, I'm

         14  not disputing what your purpose was here.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And I

         16  appreciate that, and if it is a question of

         17  vagueness, I'm sure we could work together to

         18  clarify any vagueness, and I would hope that it's

         19  not impossible, and we should certainly be able to

         20  find a way to make sure that owners complied with

         21  that which they under law are required to comply

         22  with. I mean, if we can't do that then why have a

         23  regulatory system or agency.

         24                 So, I hope we can work that out. The

         25  other thing I would say, in terms of intent, rather
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          2  than this bill trying to establish impediments to

          3  buying out, I would couch it that the intent was to

          4  provide incentives or enticements for the owners and

          5  the tenants to come together to reach a settled

          6  agreement that would allow tenants to remain in

          7  place. I think that really was the underlying

          8  intent.

          9                 I just have two other areas, two

         10  other questions. One is very simply, does the

         11  Administration have a Plan B? I mean, what if this

         12  bill does not get passed in Albany? We all,

         13  unfortunately, even the Administration can't control

         14  what goes on in Albany, what is your plan B? Or are

         15  you working on developing a plan B, since you do say

         16  it's very important to protect these residents, what

         17  if this bill does not get passed? What then?

         18                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: There is no way

         19  that at this point in time I believe we're not going

         20  to do everything that we possibly can to pass this

         21  bill, and I think it is a mistake to send a mixed

         22  message to both owners, tenants and, frankly, to the

         23  State Legislature that we're not serious about this,

         24  that we don't really need this bill, and that we

         25  don't really want it passed.
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          2                 So, that's my message. So, there is

          3  no plan B. We want the bill introduced. We want the

          4  bill passed. We want to be able to work with you, we

          5  want to be able to work with obviously the

          6  leadership in the State and with the Governor's

          7  office. If there are issues that get raised by

          8  owners, or tenants, we would like to see them

          9  resolved as part of the legislative process, but we

         10  want to see rent regulation extended to the

         11  post-1974 tenants, that requires the bill in Albany.

         12  We want to see that happen.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Let me suggest

         14  for consideration we can continue the discussion,

         15  that rather than detract from passage of an Albany

         16  bill, sometimes experience shows that the best way

         17  to get a bill passed in Albany is in fact to have a

         18  plan B which lets the folks in Albany know that if

         19  they don't get their bill passed, or the bill

         20  passed, we have something to fall back on that we're

         21  going to do it on our own, and when they see we're

         22  prepared to do something on their own, I bet that's

         23  the quickest way to get the folks in Albany,

         24  especially in the Senate, to get something done. So,

         25  maybe if we could proceed on both levels
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          2  concomitantly and see which one gets done quickest,

          3  that might be the best way to assure protection.

          4                 We could discuss that.

          5                 And my last area, my last question, I

          6  take it that the bill would do nothing to deal or to

          7  preserve affordability of the unit upon either

          8  vacancy decontrol or luxury decontrol under the

          9  current rent stabilization system; is that correct?

         10                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: It would put

         11  these units on exactly the same footing as the other

         12  1.1 million rent stabilized departments in New York

         13  City.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: In other

         15  words, that is correct, upon vacancy decontrol or

         16  luxury decontrol --

         17                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: Yes. It's all of

         18  the same rules of rent stabilization would apply.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Are you aware

         20  that folks in some of these buildings, including

         21  IPN, had proposed the plan which they presented both

         22  to the owner and to the City for the City's

         23  assistance to buy out the owner under a plan which

         24  would then keep units affordable indefinitely; are

         25  you aware of that?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: I know there

          3  were a number of discussions going on.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: If that were

          5  to happen, then that would avoid the problem of

          6  losing the affordable unit upon vacancy or luxury

          7  decontrol and then your remarks, which I applaud,

          8  you cite concern for teachers, officers, nurses,

          9  firefighters and their families. Well, their

         10  families, if we lose the affordability of the units,

         11  children, many of the children of these people you

         12  cite, and many of their families, will no longer be

         13  able to live in our communities and in our cities,

         14  and, so, can't we work together to come up with a

         15  system which addresses preservation of the

         16  affordability of the unit?

         17                 I would like to urge or ask you if

         18  that is something, and, again, within the framework

         19  of assuring the owners their due and their full

         20  return, and with full respect to the owners and

         21  their investments, cannot we try and come up with a

         22  system which preserves the affordability of the

         23  unit? Wouldn't that be a wonderful thing to do?

         24                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: Yes. I'm not

         25  sure what you're asking me, but, sure, if you want
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          2  to talk about it, I'm happy to do that.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, that's

          4  why I'm asking it, at this point. Very good.

          5                 Then with that, I'll look forward,

          6  and I think that's important. I think launching on a

          7  dialogue to aim to preserve the affordability of the

          8  unit is very important, and with that, Madam Chair,

          9  I think I'll conclude my round of questioning. I

         10  thank you very much, and I look forward,

         11  Commissioner --

         12                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: Thank you.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: -- And to the

         14  entire Administration, to launching that dialogue.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         16                 Council Member Quinn.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

         18  First, I just want to add to some of the comments

         19  that Council Member Brewer had. I have the West

         20  Village Houses in my district, and the Department

         21  and the Commissioner, personally, you've given

         22  myself and my constituents just a great deal of time

         23  and advice and trying to help us move forward with

         24  those buildings who are facing buyout, and I just

         25  want to thank you for all of your help with those
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          2  buildings. Thank you.

          3                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: Thank you.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I was just down

          5  at them right before this actually, which is part of

          6  the reason why I was late.

          7                 My question is a little bit of a

          8  follow-up to Council Member Stewart's. I mean, I

          9  recognize that there isn't -- the bill, your state

         10  bill won't be a bill until at least January, but it

         11  seems, with all due respect a little bit late,

         12  because last year was really one of the years, I

         13  mean there have obviously been others, but last year

         14  was certainly a year when there was a focus on these

         15  issues in Albany. I, myself, sat in with some

         16  meetings with Mitchell-Lama tenants on tenant lobby

         17  day with the Council to Senator Bruno where we were

         18  actually discussing legislation that would have

         19  given relief to Mitchell-Lama tenants, not so

         20  different than you've presented in your testimony.

         21  And I think it would definitely have been very

         22  compelling to Senator Bruno if somebody from the

         23  Bloomberg Administration had been there last year in

         24  Albany when they were at least on some level looking

         25  at this, pushing for this.
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          2                 So, I wonder why now and why not last

          3  year when there was a concerted Citywide effort to

          4  try to get this done, we might have been able to do

          5  it had we had the Mayor's support last year.

          6                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: Well, I don't

          7  know that you didn't have the Mayor's support last

          8  year necessarily, but I think that we just have a

          9  better shot at doing it this year.

         10                 I mean, I don't think there's ever

         11  going to be, and I'm certainly not. I mean, look,

         12  I'm a technician, I'm not the political person, and

         13  I think to every public policy answer one can always

         14  ask why didn't this answer come sooner rather than

         15  later, because it always should have come sooner.

         16                 So, you know, I don't have a

         17  disagreement with that general view, I always hoped

         18  that we would have done everything in the earliest

         19  possible moment. It just doesn't work that way. We

         20  have a limited set of resources ourselves in terms

         21  of being able to focus on things, and to move the

         22  process along.

         23                 We hope that, you know, the bill will

         24  be there now. We think that we've got a really good

         25  chance of getting it passed, and we're going to do
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          2  everything that we can to get it passed.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: You might have

          4  done this before I came in because I was late, but

          5  do you, although it wouldn't get introduced until

          6  after January, but do you have senators or assembly

          7  people who have already committed to sponsoring the

          8  bill?

          9                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: We are talking

         10  to people now and we certainly expect to get

         11  sponsors in both the Assembly and the Senate, yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: And what's the

         13  lobby plan or the outreach plan for between now and

         14  January?

         15                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: Well, actually,

         16  that's something that we'd very much like to work

         17  with you on as well, because I think for us it's

         18  working with both the constituency on the tenant's

         19  side concerned about tenant protection, it's also, I

         20  think we want to reach out to owners and to make

         21  sure that they understand what is good for them in

         22  this bill, as well, and that's going to be

         23  important. But I think whatever ideas you have would

         24  certainly be welcomed.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I'm leery about

                                                            56

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  putting my hopes in the hands of the state in

          3  general, but even more specifically here.

          4                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: Well, let's not

          5  forget that the state is where the Mitchell-Lama

          6  legislation was created, where it resides. So, while

          7  one never likes to be, you know, frankly, subject to

          8  a process that you can't exactly predict its

          9  outcome, that is how all of our legislative

         10  processes work at every level of government, local,

         11  state and the federal as well.

         12                 So, you know, that's where the

         13  Mitchell-Lama legislation resides, that's the

         14  legislative body that gave us the program initially,

         15  so I think that there's, you know, quite a bit of

         16  interest there to preserve the program.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you. And,

         18  again, thank you for your help with West Village.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         20                 Council Member Gerson.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Just a

         22  technical follow-up for clarification.

         23                 There was a previous rent

         24  stabilization bill introduced by Speaker Sheldon

         25  Silver, and Vito Lopez, that would have in effect
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          2  extended this to the very unit that you're talking

          3  about, in addition to other units, so my question

          4  is, were there any problems with that particular

          5  bill, which would explain why, as far as I know, the

          6  Administration did not support that or make a major

          7  effort to support that at that time; are there any

          8  problems with that that we should be aware of so we

          9  avoid repeating? And secondly, that bill would have

         10  extended the rent stabilization to protection to

         11  other categories of affordable housing that are also

         12  set to expire, such as the Section 8 housing, which

         13  is an equally terrible and pressing problem as the

         14  expiration of rental Mitchell-Lamas. You talk about

         15  not having different tiers, really they should all

         16  be treated together to the extent we can. Would you

         17  support a bill, or would your bill cover the Section

         18  8's as well as the other categories?

         19                 So, why did you not support the other

         20  bill, and would you this time around include its

         21  protection of Section 8s and the others?

         22                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: I think I

         23  answered this, but I'll answer it again. I think the

         24  real differences between this bill, I mean the issue

         25  is that other bill couldn't get passed, so what we
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          2  tried to do is craft a bill that actually addresses

          3  some of the concerns that you hear in Albany, where,

          4  you know, the extension of rent regulation to a new

          5  class of buildings is not everywhere in the State

          6  Legislature embraced.

          7                 So, no, I wouldn't want to extend it

          8  to Section 8 housing, I think we have to keep it

          9  narrowly focused on Mitchell-Lama housing, I think

         10  there has to be a component in the bill that

         11  provides owners with tax relief. I think without

         12  that you cannot expect that the Legislature, which

         13  is there to listen to, as you are, you know, a

         14  variety of different voices from a variety of

         15  different constituencies, you know, we just don't

         16  think it can survive.

         17                 So, that's really the difference, and

         18  I think we've got, again, a different climate. I

         19  think that people understand much better now the

         20  urgency around Mitchell-Lama Housing, and I think

         21  that the bill has a good balance between some things

         22  that will be good for owners and some things that

         23  will be good for tenants.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very

         25  much. I would just think that the same incentives to
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          2  owners of Mitchell-Lamas could apply to owners of

          3  other buildings and we should at least consider

          4  that.

          5                 Thank you very, very much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          7  We've been joined by Council Member Melinda Katz.

          8  Hello.

          9                 Council Member Brewer.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Just so I

         11  understand, this program that you're suggesting

         12  would be mandatory or voluntary? And how do you

         13  explain which it will be?

         14                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: There's two

         15  different pieces to it, the option to stay in the

         16  Mitchell-Lama program with an elimination of the cap

         17  on equity is obviously optional. We're not removing

         18  somebody's right to leave the program.

         19                 The extension of rent stabilization

         20  is not optional. I suppose we could have an owner

         21  that could technically go into rent stabilization

         22  and then not fill out their paperwork for their tax

         23  exemption. I'm assuming that that won't be viewed as

         24  optional either, so that would go in tandem as an as

         25  of right requirement to be in rent stabilization,
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          2  and an as-of-right tax benefit that would be married

          3  to it.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I just wanted

          5  to get it clarified. Thank you very much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Commissioner,

          7  once again, we appreciate your time. Will you be

          8  leaving some folks here?

          9                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: Yes. Somebody

         10  will stay to listen, yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         12  Thank all of you.

         13                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: And, you know,

         14  obviously we're happy to answer follow-up with you

         15  after the hearing to work with you on additional

         16  issues related. Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         18                 COMMISSIONER PERINE: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Senator

         20  Martin Connor. Kathryn Freed, former Council member.

         21  Adolfo Carrion, Borough President of the Bronx, my

         22  Borough President, was here, and had to leave. He

         23  had an emergency.

         24                 Welcome.

         25                 SENATOR CONNOR: Thank you, Madam
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          2  Chair. I want to thank the Speaker and Madam

          3  Chairwoman, for moving so swiftly on this measure,

          4  and certainly my colleague who has just left the

          5  room for a few minutes, Council Member Gerson, has

          6  been working very diligently on this.

          7                 Together with the other elected

          8  officials who represent Lower Manhattan, we have

          9  spent now a year, or more than a year, trying to

         10  deal with a situation at Independence Plaza.

         11                 I represent Lower Manhattan, the

         12  Lower East Side, parts of Brooklyn.

         13                 I've been in office a long time, in

         14  fact, I was there when Lands End opened as the last

         15  Mitchell-Lama project, and it's kind of shocking to

         16  realize it's now eligible to be bought out. Back

         17  then a lot of the neighborhoods where Mitchell-Lama

         18  was located in the history of the program, well

         19  before that, the program was successful because it

         20  kept middle-class residents in the City and it

         21  stabilized neighborhoods. IPN was there before there

         22  was a Tribeca now in the middle of a trendy,

         23  expensive neighborhood. I doubt that we'd have a

         24  Tribeca if IPN wasn't there to provide the kind of

         25  stability and family atmosphere that the tenants
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          2  there have.

          3                 There are two issues here, one is

          4  what to do to protect existing tenants, and then

          5  secondarily is the policy issue of how we provide

          6  affordable housing for middle-class families in New

          7  York City.

          8                 Why I said they're separate is what

          9  Council Member Brewer pointed out, I believe, in her

         10  questioning, about if you just go in the

         11  stabilization and there are vacancies, the vacancies

         12  go to market and those market forces eventually

         13  eliminate opportunities for middle-class families to

         14  reside in those areas.

         15                 I urge the Council to move swiftly on

         16  this legislation. It's not a panacea, it won't solve

         17  all the problems, but time is of the essence here. A

         18  very small Mitchell-Lama development in my district

         19  in Brooklyn Heights, which came on line for artist

         20  law, last week we saw in the paper, the local

         21  papers, tenants being evicted, tenants being evicted

         22  because it was bought out, leases had not been

         23  renewed, they expired, albeit there had been

         24  litigation claiming rent stabilized status, that was

         25  unsuccessful, and tenants as their leases expire are

                                                            63

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  actually being evicted.

          3                 This is wrong. It's wrong for the

          4  tenants. It's a bad policy for the City and the

          5  State of New York. Why I say you have to move

          6  swiftly, or I urge you to move swiftly on this

          7  legislation is time is important, and waiting for

          8  Albany can sometimes be a longer than reasonable

          9  wait, particularly when we deal with protecting

         10  tenants and housing issues.

         11                 I haven't seen the Mayor's proposal,

         12  I welcome the Administration now getting involved on

         13  this level, proposing legislation. I certainly

         14  reserve the right to see the specifics of the

         15  legislation, and to see if they adequately meet the

         16  situation we have here. But it will take some time.

         17                 I think the approach of providing

         18  incentives to owners is necessary. The Commissioner

         19  alluded to it. I serve in the State Senate so I can

         20  tell you straight out, the likelihood of passing

         21  legislation that's opposed by the real estate

         22  industry and the State Senate is nil, it's certainly

         23  what happened to Speaker Silver's efforts last year

         24  and the Assembly's efforts to provide rent

         25  stabilization. So, the fact that we try and give a
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          2  carrot to owners is not a bad thing, as long as

          3  tenants are adequately protected. Again, I defer to

          4  seeing the specifics of that.

          5                 Madam Chairwoman, I think the

          6  legislation before the Council is not only

          7  appropriate, it's needed. It's needed as soon as

          8  possible.

          9                 I applaud all of my colleagues in

         10  government, all the members of the City Council, and

         11  I note that it has widespread sponsorship, I applaud

         12  you all for your efforts.

         13                 We need this now. We need to keep New

         14  York City strong. You know, as the City

         15  Administration has talked about, promoting more

         16  affordable housing, you know, it becomes a zero-sum

         17  game here if you lose as many units as the City is

         18  proposing to spend a lot of money creating. Let's

         19  keep our tenants in these housing, in this

         20  affordable housing. Thank you, Madam Chair.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you,

         22  Senator.

         23                 MS. FREED: Thank you very much. I

         24  appreciate the opportunity to be here. I want to

         25  thank Madam Chair, and obviously the Speaker,
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          2  Council Members Gerson, Quinn, Brewer and everyone

          3  else who supported this legislation.

          4                 It's interesting to me, I've lived at

          5  Independence Plaza for almost 33 years, so when they

          6  say that everything is on the line for us, our

          7  homes, what's made downtown in Tribeca are totally

          8  on the line here. It's not just our homes. You know,

          9  we went into Lower Manhattan at a time when there

         10  was absolutely nothing around us. There was a

         11  garbage dump. There wasn't a supermarket, there

         12  wasn't a park, there wasn't a school. We fought very

         13  hard to make all those things. None of that would

         14  have happened without us.

         15                 And you know, there's an irony here

         16  that we priced ourselves out of our neighborhood,

         17  but, you know, you need stability and you need a

         18  commitment to a neighborhood before a neighborhood

         19  becomes better.

         20                 It's what happened on the Upper West

         21  Side in Council Member Brewer's district, because

         22  you had, and just a way with Tribeca and the Lower

         23  East Side and almost everywhere where you've seen

         24  Mitchell-Lama housing, where people have the promise

         25  that they can stay there and they can commit
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          2  themselves to a neighborhood that has actually made

          3  this entire City better.

          4                 And it would be, you know, I can talk

          5  about the efforts that I've made and the efforts

          6  that Independence Plaza has made and the efforts

          7  that all Mitchell-Lamas have made, and actually the

          8  value that we've given, not only to our owners, but

          9  to the surrounding owners, but what I really want to

         10  talk about I guess today is point out that in so

         11  many ways what we're really talking about now is the

         12  heart and soul of New York City and which way we're

         13  going to go. Are we going to become a City,

         14  especially in Manhattan, but in a lot of the other

         15  boroughs where only the very rich or the very poor

         16  can afford to live in the City? We cannot let that

         17  happen. It is the middle class that is the heart and

         18  blood and soul of this City, and if you force us out

         19  in the longrun you're going to kill this City. It

         20  will be a different City without us. So, all I can

         21  say is urge you to pass this legislation, because

         22  this legislation is going to point the way that the

         23  City is going to go.

         24                 Will the City support its middle

         25  income, will it allow us all to be here and to
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          2  continue to contribute to the City? Or will it just

          3  look at the bottom line and only those people who

          4  can afford to pay a million or $2 million and be

          5  allowed to live in this City. It would be a shame.

          6  It would wreck the lives of so many of us who put so

          7  much into this City, and I think it would just

          8  change the entire nature of New York City.

          9                 So, I want to applaud you for putting

         10  this forward. I mean, I sat here, I heard the

         11  Mayor's bill. The truth is that even going into rent

         12  stabilization provides at most a short-term panacea,

         13  because the way the rent stabilization is now

         14  structured, as soon as the value of an apartment

         15  hits $2,000 rent, it's out of the program.

         16                 And in New York City, if Independence

         17  Plaza becomes rent stabilized, maybe we'll get a

         18  couple more years, but that's not what we want. We

         19  want the right to keep the homes that we've made for

         20  ourselves and to continue to be able to contribute

         21  to the City.

         22                 And just one last thing. There was an

         23  implication from HPD when they testified that

         24  somehow working on this bill would hurt other

         25  Mitchell-Lamas. I think it's very wrong. It's very
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          2  clear that the real reason that we are getting some

          3  attention from the Mayor is because Independence

          4  Plaza and the other Mitchell-Lamas have organized so

          5  well that we put this on the front burner.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you

          7  very much.

          8                 MS. FREED: So I just want to point

          9  out that, you know, it's going to help all

         10  Mitchell-Lamas by pushing this bill and by pushing

         11  everything that helps preserve, to help preserve

         12  affordable housing in the City. Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Council

         14  Member Stewart has a question.

         15                 MS. FREED: Sure.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you,

         17  Madam Chair.

         18                 I just wanted to ask the Senator

         19  about the statement that the Commissioner made

         20  awhile ago, that 523, it's in the form that is

         21  inconsistent with state laws, and I don't know if

         22  you have looked into it, the bill, if you can

         23  comment on that?

         24                 SENATOR CONNOR: I haven't looked at

         25  it with great specificity, but let me say, if the

                                                            69

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  Commissioner and the Mayor are serious and push, and

          3  we are successful at getting state legislation, the

          4  fact that this Intro passes, it will buy the

          5  necessary time, I would think, so that state

          6  legislation can become effective. What I would be

          7  concerned about legally is the Commissioner's

          8  statement, the legislation they're proposing will be

          9  retroactive today, that may have legal problems. I

         10  haven't looked at it, but they may have serious

         11  legal problems, more than this intro does.

         12                 The fact is, though, if there are

         13  legal defects in this Intro, and you're talking

         14  about a 12- or 18-month notice period and an impact

         15  statement, before anyone could ever litigate and get

         16  a declaration, it would set aside some portion of

         17  this, the time would have run. I mean, just don't

         18  stand up and say this is illegal and it therefore is

         19  not effective. If the Council acts on this, and it

         20  will provide the kind of relief that tenants who are

         21  now up really have their backs against the wall

         22  time-wise need, and, yes, we should go forward, and

         23  certainly I will do all I can and fight to get

         24  legislation through the State Legislature. That will

         25  take time. We're not in session in Albany.
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          2  Ordinarily that's a blessing upon people in the

          3  City, but in this case, it would be helpful were we

          4  in session and were the Mayor to demonstrate his

          5  commitment and get the Governor and Senator Bruno

          6  onboard to do State legislation. I think the Council

          7  can act reasonably speedily on this and should, and

          8  I don't really see the obvious legal defect, and

          9  should there be some technical objections, it would

         10  take someone objecting to it many, many months to

         11  litigate that to a conclusion and that would buy the

         12  time the tenants need.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: So, Senator,

         14  could we get you to be a sponsor of the legislation?

         15                 SENATOR CONNOR: I want to read it.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay.

         17                 SENATOR CONNOR: Yes, the legislation

         18  we decide on, I haven't seen the Mayor's --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: No, I'm

         20  talking about State Legislation.

         21                 SENATOR CONNOR: But certainly I have

         22  introduced, certainly over a year ago I introduced

         23  legislation to address this problem. I want to look

         24  at what the Mayor is proposing. The Assembly had

         25  certainly a definite proposal last year that was
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          2  rejected by the Senate, by the majority in the

          3  Senate, and I will be a sponsor, but, again, I will

          4  see what the Mayor has proposed.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you

          6  very much.

          7                 SENATOR CONNOR: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Our next

          9  speakers are Andrew Hoffman, Diana Lapson and David

         10  Jones.

         11                 We'll now start, for the speakers

         12  that come up we'll have a three-minute clock.

         13                 Okay, where are the other folk. We're

         14  trying to move this along as expeditiously as

         15  possible. Obviously it's Diane that's missing.

         16                 Is that you? Come on.

         17                 Would you like to start? Identify

         18  yourself, please.

         19                 MR. HOFFMAN: My name is Andrew

         20  Hoffman. I am the president of the Community Housing

         21  Improvement Program, a building owners trade

         22  association representing 2,500 owners in New York,

         23  and the owner/operator of approximately 5,000

         24  rent-regulated units in New York City.

         25                 I'm here today to oppose Intro. 523,
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          2  that would change the purpose of the regulations

          3  enacted decades ago concerning the process owners of

          4  Mitchell-Lama Projects must comply with when leaving

          5  the Mitchell-Lama system.

          6                 While I don't personally have

          7  Mitchell-Lama housing, I strongly oppose this

          8  legislation because of the simple concept that my

          9  grandfather taught me when I was a young boy and

         10  that's keep your promises.

         11                 I was very lucky to have a

         12  grandfather who taught me a promise is a promise,

         13  and for the past 20 years I've been trying hard to

         14  keep my promises. In proposing the change of this

         15  legislation, the City Council is trying to back out

         16  of a promise the State made years ago in an effort

         17  to encourage the development of affordable housing.

         18                 Our government makes promises to its

         19  citizens only later to change the rules after a huge

         20  investment is made. Distrust of our government will

         21  pervade.

         22                 Now we're talking about the

         23  Mitchell-Lama rules, who's next? Perhaps the City

         24  Council could propose legislation forcing my

         25  insurance company to sell me property insurance at
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          2  only 100 percent increase, instead of a 400 percent

          3  increase they hit me with last year. See how long

          4  any business would stick around this City if you

          5  start changing their rules.

          6                 If I could just pick up my buildings

          7  and go across the river - I wish. In a time in which

          8  the City is searching ways to encourage development

          9  of affordable housing, this attempt to unilaterally

         10  change an agreement entered into decades ago will

         11  certainly deter any developer from dealing with the

         12  City. Attorneys consulted by my organization inform

         13  us that amending the Mitchell Lama law by imposing

         14  any new requirements by developers can only be done

         15  by State legislation and the requirements of owners

         16  to offer rents not to exceed 30 percent of income in

         17  simply a new form of rent regulation, and this is

         18  something that only the state can impose. A point

         19  driven home this past summer with the strengthening

         20  of the Urstadt law.

         21                 I respectfully remind the City

         22  Council of an attempt years ago to impose an SRO

         23  moratorium in which the City Council required a

         24  payment of $45,000 a unit to demolish an SRO. The

         25  State Court of Appeals in reversing that law cited
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          2  the law was unconstitutional at a regulatory taking.

          3  The court found that the law permitted owners to

          4  avoid any legal confiscation by paying a ransom. The

          5  Supreme Court of the United States refused to review

          6  this case.

          7                 Why would the City Council now

          8  attempt to impose a similar law and expose the City

          9  once again to millions of dollars in damages, this

         10  at a time when we're facing a severe budget crisis?

         11                 The rent regulation laws in the City

         12  form a wedge in the relationship between property

         13  owners and their tenants. It's constantly referred

         14  to as a Hatfield and McCoy relationship. Many times

         15  I get the feeling that no matter what I do to

         16  improve my buildings, the rent regulation laws

         17  constantly put me in a position where I could never

         18  do anything right.

         19                 The passage of this Mitchell-Lama

         20  legislation requiring a community impact study and

         21  suggesting that rents be capped would further put a

         22  wedge in any meaningful negotiations between owners

         23  of Mitchell-Lama Housing and their tenants prior to

         24  conversion.

         25                 Last paragraph. There are many things
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          2  that government can do to keep affordable housing

          3  for those who truly deserve it. The City Council

          4  should be working to preserve the federal Section 8

          5  program and streamline its administration.

          6                 The City Council should be making use

          7  of Chapter 389 that allows real property tax

          8  exemption for up to 50 years, if an owner agrees to

          9  limit profit.

         10                 The City Council --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Your time is

         12  up.

         13                 MR. HOFFMAN: Thank you.

         14                 I thank the City Council.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: I asked you

         16  not to do that. I'd certainly appreciate it if you

         17  listened.

         18                 Who is next? Identify yourself,

         19  please, before you speak?

         20                 MS. LAPSON: My name is Diane Lapson,

         21  I'm a vice president of the Independence Plaza

         22  Tenants Association. I'll try to read as quickly as

         23  I can.

         24                 I would like to give a shortened

         25  version of why I believe this legislation is an
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          2  honorable and necessary change to the Mitchell-Lama

          3  regulations. I'll use IPN as an example of a

          4  Mitchell-Lama development.

          5                 In the seventies, when two of the

          6  three buildings were still empty, brochures were

          7  given out by management describing what life at IPN

          8  would be like. They showed a beautiful neighborhood

          9  with planted walkways, a skating rink, a pool, shops

         10  and social activities. It stated we could live in

         11  historical New York in affordable, luxury housing.

         12  We even received a tenants bill of rights.

         13                 When the renters didn't come, 236

         14  vouchers were added. The rent monies arrived, but

         15  the promises did not. The pool was closed in spite

         16  of tenants paying membership for what was to be a

         17  free pool. The walkways, gardens, et cetera, were

         18  never built. In reality, I moved into IPN in 1975,

         19  but it was not until 1982 that our supermarket, the

         20  Food Emporium, was opened. It was opened because

         21  tenants stood in the streets collected thousands of

         22  signatures to ask for government assistance.

         23                 We also applied ourselves for a UDAG

         24  loan to renovate the grocery. For eight years

         25  tenants had to travel a mile and a half to go
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          2  shopping.

          3                 IPN continued to be surrounded by

          4  broken cobblestone streets, lots and derelict

          5  buildings. We had to fight to get the City to pave

          6  the streets, with our growing population we had to

          7  fight to build PS 234, now one of New York's best

          8  schools.

          9                 Neither the landlord, nor the

         10  management company ever once participated in

         11  improving our desolate neighborhood. They provided

         12  only the apartments we live in. A big empty weed and

         13  rodent-filled lot right next to 310 Greenwich was

         14  turned into a community garden by tenants, and after

         15  the same eight years tenants pushed for and won

         16  Washington Market Park and started the park board.

         17  Funding for the school park, et cetera, came

         18  directly from the tenant's efforts.

         19                 As we worked hard for other

         20  commercial spaces, traffic lights and street lights,

         21  our area became more attractive to others. People

         22  hadn't come downtown before and they were

         23  desperately afraid to come to Tribeca at night, and

         24  it's still called Washington Market.

         25                 After years of residents'
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          2  involvement, Washington Market was changed to

          3  Tribeca. Suddenly we were on the map. It was not the

          4  owners who put us on the map. You'd think the owners

          5  of Mitchell-Lama developments would get beyond the

          6  goal of just filling up apartments, however, you

          7  could hear this story from each development. A new

          8  landlord even told us at our first meeting with them

          9  that IPN tenants had been sent to gentrify the

         10  neighborhood. It is inequitable that we were sent to

         11  gentrify the neighborhood, did such a great job,

         12  and, yet, the owners who did nothing except put

         13  obstacles in our way, and an outside purchaser

         14  become the two entities that greatly profit off the

         15  work of the tenants. Are Mitchell-Lama residents

         16  worker ants sent in advance to create the future

         17  windfall of real estate investors? Does the very

         18  governments who subsidize 95 percent of our complex

         19  not recognize the inequity on behalf of their own

         20  tax-paying working class citizens?

         21                 If the government agencies --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Would you

         23  please wind up?

         24                 MR. LAPSON: Okay.

         25                 What I'd like to say, because I have
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          2  a lot more, my full testimony involves our 9/11

          3  experience, and there's a lot of other things. I

          4  have turned in a full testimony plus pictures of

          5  what IPN looked like originally. Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          7                 David, you're on.

          8                 MR. JONES: Good afternoon, members of

          9  the Council. I'm pleased to come before you, the

         10  Committee, to support Intro 523, known as the

         11  Mitchell-Lama conversion bill. My organization, the

         12  Community Service Society of New York, has been

         13  working on issues of poverty and keeping people out

         14  of poverty for many years and actually created the

         15  first new law tenements in the City of New York. So

         16  we had a long history in this work.

         17                 Over recent decades the City has lost

         18  thousands of units of its affordable housing

         19  resource. With more at risk as owners exercise their

         20  right to lead the program after 20 years to convert

         21  their property to higher market rental.

         22                 These losses have disastrous

         23  consequences for low-income New Yorkers. Some are

         24  directly affected through Mitchell-Lama, although

         25  Mitchell-Lama is often thought of as a middle-income
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          2  program, about 40 percent of rentals have incomes

          3  below 20,000 a year. In addition, another 30 percent

          4  of households earn less than 40,000 a year. That's

          5  70 percent of these tenants who if they're forced to

          6  go to market, are in active danger of homelessness,

          7  and this is a crisis here for all New Yorkers, not

          8  merely for people in Mitchell-Lama.

          9                 The loss of this housing, any

         10  affordable housing, also shrinks our low rent

         11  housing resources and makes it even harder for low

         12  income New Yorkers to compete in the City's tight,

         13  high-cost rental market.

         14                 Since 1996, 44 percent of apartments

         15  renting for less than 500 a month have been lost as

         16  rent levels increase.

         17                 Let me close and make it very brief.

         18  You're confronting as a Council, one of the worst

         19  housing problems we've seen in our lifetimes. The

         20  homeless crisis is coming upon us, the rents for an

         21  ordinary apartment now go well above $2,000 a month.

         22  For a person even earning 40 or 50,000 dollars a

         23  year, after take home, they don't have enough to

         24  cope with this. We have a very real problem that

         25  transcends income levels, it goes from the very
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          2  poor, clearly on the verge of homelessness, right up

          3  to people who are of moderate needs, also in real

          4  danger, completely destabilizing themselves

          5  economically.

          6                 There are all sorts of instances when

          7  the City is confronted with problems, that it has to

          8  do things that at least for the short term restrict

          9  people's rights.

         10                 In this case I think this is an

         11  extraordinarily conservative idea of slowing this

         12  process down and allowing us to come up with

         13  mechanisms to deal with a crisis that is endangering

         14  the very City of New York. That's why I think it's

         15  so important, and basically before your action, I

         16  must say, as credit to both the tenants who worked

         17  on this and the Council, this problem was stalled,

         18  and what you've done here was shake something loose

         19  that was off the radar screen. You've moved the

         20  Mayor, I think you're going to move the press, I

         21  think it really shows what this Council can

         22  ultimately do to save the whole City.

         23                 Thank you very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you

         25  very much.
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          2                 Council Member Gerson.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you.

          4                 Actually, to Mr. Hoffman. I don't

          5  have so much a question but rather a request, maybe

          6  a challenge which we can continue after this

          7  meeting.

          8                 Let me just first of all say, I

          9  appreciate your recommendations as to Chapter 389

         10  and the federal section 8's, and I look forward to

         11  working with you in Flushing that out. But I would

         12  like us collectively to try and work together to get

         13  beyond this Hatfield and McCoy situation you

         14  described, and maybe the way to do it is kind of

         15  with a deal and understanding, if we start out fully

         16  respecting the situation of property owners and

         17  their right to a full return on an investment made

         18  on a law passed years ago, in exchange, could you

         19  try and understand and accept that an apartment can

         20  never be treated strictly as a market commodity

         21  because it is a home, and it goes to the sanctity of

         22  human life and what makes human beings, and we in

         23  public policy need to start with that basic human

         24  premise and then maybe we could come together and

         25  figure out a solution that will preserve apartments
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          2  for folks who live there currently, and for other

          3  folks so we can have our housing diversity and

          4  within that framework find a way to meet our

          5  obligations to the owners. Let's work on that

          6  together.

          7                 MR. HOFFMAN: I'm fully prepared to

          8  sit down and talk to you about this issue. The

          9  bottom line is, I don't have a business without

         10  tenants, all right? I need to rent my apartments in

         11  order to pay my bills, and I look forward to

         12  continuing that dialogue with you, to make sure that

         13  both parties are protected.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So do I. I

         15  look forward to that then. Thank you. Thank you,

         16  Madam Chair.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank all of

         18  you.

         19                 The next panel, John Scott; Ed

         20  Wallace; Jose Torres.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Madam Chair,

         22  as these witnesses take their seats, I'll just

         23  acknowledge that Mr. Jose Torres is the former

         24  Athletics Commissioner for the State of New York, as

         25  well as a boxing champion I think in the middle
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          2  lightweight class, and he's been one of the heroes

          3  of our community, and I know I speak for all when I

          4  say we're pleased and honored to have him along with

          5  everyone else in our Chambers. Thank you.

          6                 MR. TORRES: Thank you.

          7                 MR. WALLACE: Thank you, Madam

          8  Chairwoman. My name is Edward Wallace. I'm an

          9  attorney at Greenberg Traureg. We represent Stellar

         10  Management, Independent Plaza North, and we're here

         11  to testify in opposition to Intro. 523.

         12                 Apart from the unfairness of changing

         13  the law after the fact, we oppose the bill for

         14  several reasons. It is blatantly illegal, it holds

         15  out false hope to tenants, and as a consequence it

         16  chills negotiations between owners and tenants.

         17                 I'll address each issue in its turn,

         18  but first I would note that we agree with Council

         19  Member Gerson, that it's time to call an end to the

         20  Hatfield McCoy atmosphere.

         21                 For example, at IPN, the owner has

         22  made public commitment directly to the tenants to

         23  operate the complex as a rental property, and to

         24  negotiate in good faith with the tenants with

         25  respect to rent to avoid disruption and dislocation.

                                                            85

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 Moreover, under the federal subsidy

          3  known as the "sticky voucher program," 56 percent of

          4  the tenants would continue to be subsidized despite

          5  the project's exit from Mitchell-Lama.

          6                 The IPN approach achieves the goal of

          7  preserving rental housing and maximizing its

          8  supportability. Understandably, however, it

          9  disappoints some tenants who would prefer to buy

         10  rather than rent, and who might have hoped that the

         11  exit from Mitchell-Lama would let them buy.

         12                 That strategy makes sense for those

         13  tenants, but does not serve the Council's goal of

         14  preserving affordable, rental housing in the face of

         15  the strong real estate market.

         16                 That goal can only be achieved by a

         17  three-way partnership between the government,

         18  federal, state and local, the tenants and the

         19  owners. Demands by tenants merely to sell us the

         20  building, or efforts by the governments to force

         21  owners to lose money as this bill would, will fail.

         22                 On the question of illegality, I'll

         23  summarize quickly, but the Seawall case which was

         24  discussed earlier, is probably the most relevant to

         25  this Council's deliberation.
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          2                 In 1987 this Council enacted Local

          3  Law 9, with the express purpose of preserving the

          4  stock of low rent SRO housing. It required building

          5  owners to continue to operate under rent regulation

          6  or deposit money with the City for units removed

          7  from the system. It sounds familiar to the proposal

          8  here today.

          9                 The Court of Appeals declared Local

         10  Law 9 invalid. It said the government cannot take

         11  private property when it forces some people alone to

         12  bear public burdens, which in all fairness and

         13  justice should be borne by the public as a whole.

         14                 For that reason we think the bill

         15  before you is a false hope bill. It causes tenants

         16  to hope that the Council with a magic wand can

         17  somehow force the landlord to lose money, and that

         18  won't happen.

         19                 In the meanwhile, there are a number

         20  of anxious tenants and there is a distracted owner

         21  waiting to see what will happen.

         22                 As a result, the negotiation between

         23  tenants and owners is chilled. Tenants

         24  understandably want to hold out, see whether this

         25  Council will pass the law, and, sadly, they will
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          2  have to hold out more to see whether the courts

          3  overturn it.

          4                 We urge the Council and the City to

          5  use its important power to help find a fair,

          6  balanced and legal approach. This bill creates false

          7  hopes which will lead to shattered dreams for

          8  tenants.

          9                 For owners like Stellar Management,

         10  it distracts them from negotiating a fair agreement

         11  with tenants and forces them to concentrate on

         12  challenges to an unfair law.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         15                 Mr. Torres, or who? Don't fight over

         16  it.

         17                 MR. TORRES: Okay.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Please

         19  identify yourself, Mr. Torres.

         20                 MR. TORRES: Okay. My name is Jose

         21  Torres.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay.

         23                 MR. TORRES: I'm the former

         24  heavyweight champion of the world.

         25                 I've been in Independence Plaza for
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          2  almost 30 years. I have seen the changes, seen the

          3  public, the issue that I am more impressed with, the

          4  diversity of Independence Plaza. I remember at the

          5  beginning when there were times to get people in

          6  there, they called me to give some advice as to

          7  Spanish-speaking people, and they wanted to have a

          8  diversity in Independence Plaza. Now I see that, you

          9  know, even though some of you may believe that I was

         10  a good puncher or a fast puncher, Mohammad Ali,

         11  Mohammad Ali always said that the fight that he

         12  engaged in began not when the bell sounded, but when

         13  he signed the contract. And you know at one point he

         14  told Joe Frasier on television that when a baby's

         15  bottom, they slap a baby so he reacts, he said but

         16  when Joe Frasier was born, he said they slapped Joe

         17  Frasier, they slapped the mother of Joe Frasier for

         18  having a kid so ugly. So, and Ali used to use that

         19  thing, intelligence. Here I see that exchange. I

         20  think that if we continue to be relaxed and for

         21  using our strategy tactics, intelligence, the

         22  communication, I think that we're going to go some

         23  place and I've been talking to my friend Alan Gerson

         24  and he understands perfectly how to bend down, how

         25  to move to the side and how to exercise to be in top
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          2  condition to fight this fight for us.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          5  It's a pleasure to have you here.

          6                 MR. TORRES: Thank you.

          7                 MR. SCOTT: Hello. My name is John

          8  Scott. I'm a member of Local 32BJ, SEIU, and a

          9  tenant and leader at Independence Plaza Tenant

         10  Association.

         11                 Our President Mike Fishman, Executive

         12  Vice President Kevin Doyle, and Secretary Treasurer,

         13  Hector Figueroa, regret that they cannot be here

         14  today, but they asked me to testify on the union's

         15  behalf.

         16                 I would like to thank the Committee

         17  and the Chairperson Provenzano, for the opportunity

         18  to testify. I would like to thank Speaker Miller, my

         19  Council Member Alan Gerson and the 36 co-sponsors of

         20  Intro. 523, the Mitchell-Lama Conversion Protection

         21  Bill, for their support.

         22                 I will read a statement from

         23  President Fishman, and then tell the Committee about

         24  myself, and why I believe Intro. 523 is so

         25  important.
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          2                 Here is the President Fishman's

          3  statement.

          4                 "On behalf of our Executive Board and

          5  the 70,000 building service workers that we

          6  represent, I would like to thank Speaker Miller and

          7  the 36 co-sponsors of Intro 523, Mitchell-Lama

          8  Conversion Protection Bill. This bill has special

          9  significance for local 32BJ, because who we

         10  represent. We are the New York's home team. Our

         11  members are superintendents, porters, doormen,

         12  security guards, and thousands apartments across New

         13  York, from luxury buildings through Mitchell-Lama

         14  buildings we are discussing today. We both live and

         15  work in Mitchell-Lama buildings, and we believe it's

         16  important to keep them affordable.

         17                 Hundreds of 32B members have decent

         18  and affordable apartments because of the

         19  Mitchell-Lama program, but now they're in danger of

         20  losing their home as their building converts out of

         21  the Mitchell-Lama program and their rents

         22  skyrocketed.

         23                 I urge the Council to pass Intro.

         24  523, so that we can preserve these decent affordable

         25  units for working men.
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          2                 I'm a long-term community activist in

          3  Tribeca, and one of the things I have to bring up

          4  because I don't have much time. I have a daughter

          5  that goes to PS 234, and from time to time we've had

          6  the president's wife come down to PS 234, we've had

          7  the Governor's wife come down to PS 234, and we've

          8  had the Mayor numerous times. They come in to take a

          9  photo shoot of our children.

         10                 And I'd like to tell you, our

         11  children have gone through a lot. During 9/11 we

         12  were evacuated. Our children had to be replaced from

         13  their school, to go from school-to-school before

         14  they can get back in.

         15                 During the removal of the debris, it

         16  was right outside our windows. When the debris hit

         17  the barge, our building shook. My daughter was kept

         18  up night after night. The pollution that we had to

         19  encounter was horrendous, and today my wife, who has

         20  not had asthma, has asthma.

         21                 We are, the children of 9/11, our

         22  children have gone through enough and it's enough

         23  for the Mayor to do photo-ops about how he wants to

         24  save our children.

         25                 If he wanted to do something
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          2  correctly.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Can you

          4  please close up? Time is up.

          5                 MR. SCOTT: He would save our children

          6  from this problem. It is terrible to displace the

          7  children of 9/11 the second time. So, I say I thank

          8  the Council for their courage. We know this doesn't

          9  meet all the State requirements, as far as it only

         10  covers City, but it will push the State to come up

         11  with something, it has pushed the Mayor to come up

         12  with something, and I thank you because you are the

         13  true leaders, and I thank you for exercising your

         14  power. Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank all of

         16  you.

         17                 MR. SCOTT: That's it?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: That's it.

         19                 Nicholas LaPorte, Brad Landa and

         20  Steven Banks.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Is Brad

         22  Landa here? Oh, you are testifying for him? You have

         23  a written statement for him, okay.

         24                 Chad Marlow. You can come and have a

         25  seat at the table.
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          2                 Okay, we'll hear from Mr. LaPorte.

          3  Mr. LaPorte, did you hand in written testimony? All

          4  right, we'll start with you, Mr. LaPorte.

          5                 MR. LaPorte: Okay. Good afternoon,

          6  Council members. Thank you for this opportunity.

          7                 My name is Nicholas LaPorte. I'm the

          8  Executive Director of the Associated Builders and

          9  Owners of Greater New York.

         10                 I represent over 1,000 building

         11  owners and managers, and collectively are

         12  responsible for about a half a million units that

         13  are rent regulated.

         14                 I just want to begin by saying that

         15  the Mitchell-Lama program, as we know it, is

         16  probably one of the best housing initiatives ever

         17  undertaken by the State, and I emphasize by the

         18  State, because I think what's going on here today,

         19  the Council is preempted from doing anything on this

         20  law, on this program.

         21                 But let me talk about the

         22  Mitchell-Lama Program very quickly. From our

         23  experience and from the City's experience, it

         24  provides long-term stable housing for middle-income

         25  tenants while providing incentives for builders to
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          2  develop the unit.

          3                 The incentive was to provide the

          4  developer with the ability to buy-out the program

          5  after a 20-year period elapsed. 1998 was the

          6  contract date for many of these buy-outs, however,

          7  when developers sought to invoke their contractual

          8  rights they were greeted with lawsuits, legislation

          9  and strong criticism from elected officials for

         10  their actions.

         11                 Undoubtedly the program has been a

         12  huge housing success and it is important that those

         13  of us concerned about affordable housing continue to

         14  encourage development.

         15                 However, renegging on agreements

         16  entered into 20 years ago is not the answer. If we

         17  don't have the programs that developers can

         18  participate in without the comfort of knowing that

         19  the contracts won't be repudiated in the future,

         20  then we will have a shortage of affordable housing.

         21                 Yes, there will be no development. It

         22  is imperative that the incentives which developers

         23  are offered are impervious to attack and out of the

         24  reach of those who opt to attack an industry on

         25  general principal.
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          2                 At a time when we are all searching

          3  for ways to encouragement the development of

          4  affordable housing, attempting to unilaterally

          5  change contractual agreements entered into decades

          6  ago under State Authority will certainly deter any

          7  developer from dealing with the City again.

          8                 When purchasing an apartment,

          9  developers put a substantial equity in it, doing so

         10  at great risk, and expecting those risks to be

         11  commensurate with a certain reward.

         12                 When a contract is entered into, all

         13  parties are bound unless there is a breach.

         14                 To do otherwise, will clearly

         15  discourage others from participating in these

         16  programs, the result again being less construction

         17  of this type of housing.

         18                 The private housing finance law,

         19  which governs Mitchell Lama projects, will ask

         20  developers to withdraw from the program after 20

         21  years by prepaying their mortgages and taking other

         22  financial steps.

         23                 In exchange for low-interest mortgage

         24  loans and real property taxes, the Mitchell-Lama

         25  required limitation on profit, income limits on
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          2  tenants and supervision by DHCR.

          3                 Developments are eligible to withdraw

          4  from a Mitchell-Lama program after 20 years of

          5  prepayment.

          6                 Without giving developers the options

          7  of taking their building out of the program after a

          8  set period of time, it was believed builders would

          9  not have been motivated to put up affordable units

         10  of middle-income housing.

         11                 The bill creates unrealistic and

         12  illegal requirements for the owners and the City.

         13  Requiring the owners to offering rents not to exceed

         14  30 percent of income, or in the alternative to

         15  mitigate impacts and pay $1,000 a unit is illegal.

         16                 It is a taking and violates the First

         17  Amendment of the United States Constitution.

         18  Requiring a per-unit payment is something the City

         19  attempted years ago, when it imposed the SRO

         20  moratorium. That is something that Andrew Hoffman

         21  before me spoke about, and this imposed, that law

         22  imposed the moratorium on a conversion, alternation

         23  or demolition of SRO buildings. Owners, however,

         24  purchase an exemption. They can make a payment of

         25  $45,000 a unit, or the cost of a replacement unit to
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          2  provide an equal number of replacement units.

          3                 The State Court of Appeals held that

          4  unconstitutional --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: You're going

          6  to have to talk a lot faster than that to finish.

          7                 MR. LaPORTE: Okay. It's been spoken

          8  about. It's unconstitutional, and the Supreme Court

          9  has ruled against this similar type of thing in the

         10  past.

         11                 Again, limiting rent laws -- rent, is

         12  a new form of rent regulation, something only the

         13  State Legislature can impose, a point driven home

         14  this past summer with the strengthening of the

         15  Urstadt law.

         16                 I know I'm out of time, so I'll just

         17  say there are things that the government can do to

         18  housing affordable to those who truly need it, work

         19  to preserve Section 8, and streamline this

         20  Administration to make it more attractive to owners

         21  so that units are made available to eligible

         22  tenants.

         23                 Make use of legislation recently

         24  signed by the Governor, Chapter 389, that allows you

         25  grant additional real property tax exemptions for a
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          2  period up to 50 years, it's a limited profit and

          3  limited dividend housing development. Couple that

          4  with creative programs that make it attractive for

          5  the owners --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: I have to ask

          7  you to close up.

          8                 MR. LaPORTE: I'm done.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay.

         10                 Whose next? Steve? Chad? Chad, you're

         11  not Brad, you're Chad?

         12                 MR. MARLOW: I am Chad, yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay.

         14                 MR. MARLOW: Madam Chairwoman and

         15  members of the Housing and Buildings Committee, my

         16  name is Chad Marlow and it's a pleasure to appear

         17  before you today.

         18                 I am an attorney but I do not live in

         19  Mitchell-Lama housing and I have no economic

         20  incentive, either personal or professional in this

         21  matter.

         22                 There are many who before me and

         23  surely after me will offer the compelling testimony

         24  and personal testimony like my friend John Scott

         25  did, and so instead I hope to offer some brief
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          2  unique testimony from a particular standpoint, which

          3  is that this bill before this Committee today

          4  actually traces its routes back to a model City

          5  Council bill that I conceived of, researched and

          6  authored almost two years ago.

          7                 Many of you on the Committee actually

          8  received a copy of the bill at that time and

          9  expressed your support for it many years ago and I'm

         10  delighted to see it come before the full Council

         11  with none other than the Speaker's support today.

         12                 I would like to discuss three

         13  specific areas which undoubtedly come before this

         14  Committee. The first is whether or not the Council

         15  can actually do this.

         16                 Essentially what this bill does is

         17  ask the Council to enact something like an impact

         18  fee. Typically an impact fee is seen when the

         19  development is built, and, for example, a

         20  municipality will notice an influx of children into

         21  the community, it will ask them to help pay for

         22  school.

         23                 This is really the same but in a

         24  different order. Rather than in new construction

         25  it's a metamorphose of a building from low-income or
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          2  middle-income housing into private market rate

          3  housing.

          4                 All this bill seeks to do is to say

          5  that the City does not have to completely pay for

          6  the impact of that decision. This has been done

          7  extremely frequently and for the benefit of the

          8  Committee's lawyers, I would like to give them one

          9  particular cite. It's 20 Fordham Urban Law Journal,

         10  at 9/11/1993. It's a note by James Berger called

         11  "Conscripting private resources to meet urban

         12  needs. The statutory and constitutional validity of

         13  affordable housing impact fees of New York." I think

         14  that will prove clearly that this is within the

         15  Committee's powers.

         16                 Second, I just want to talk a little

         17  bit about a problem that I think faces the City

         18  Council and the City all the time, which is the fact

         19  that the City Council, without a doubt, has far less

         20  power than it should to deal with the issues

         21  affecting New York City.

         22                 To the extent that it does have

         23  limited power arise great obligations, because

         24  therein lies the opportunity for the members of this

         25  Council to make the impact that they should be able
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          2  to make across the board on the citizens of this

          3  City.

          4                 One of the areas that this City

          5  Council does have power is to maintain the welfare

          6  of its citizens. And the courts have held that this

          7  extends to the provision of affordable housing.

          8                 So, to the extent that the people on

          9  the other side attempt to say that you do not have

         10  the power to do so, a simple reading of case law in

         11  the State Constitution suggests clearly, I think,

         12  that you do have the power to work in the area of

         13  affordable housing, and merely because the State has

         14  taken action in this area, does not mean that it's

         15  preempting the field. That is what they're

         16  attempting to suggest, but that is an overstatement

         17  of what the state has done.

         18                 Finally, a point will come before

         19  this Committee time and time again saying that the

         20  Mitchell-Lama owners have a contract with the State

         21  of New York. Any attorney who suggests that a

         22  private entity has a contract with the City of New

         23  York must have slept their way through law school.

         24  Individuals cannot have contracts at the state,

         25  that's basic law. All these things do is build

                                                            102

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  expectation, and I'll give you an example of that on

          3  a federal level.

          4                 A person puts money into a 401K plan

          5  and plans out their life to retire with the benefits

          6  of Social Security at the age of 65.

          7                 The federal government then goes

          8  ahead and raises the Social Security age to 67.

          9  Clearly that person is damaged, clearly that person

         10  had an expectation; do you think they have a lawsuit

         11  against the federal government for breach of

         12  contract? Absolutely not. And clearly the same

         13  applies here.

         14                 The final point is that they're also

         15  going to say, well, in the area of equity we have

         16  entered into a deal with the City, and if you change

         17  the -- I'll wrap up quickly, Madam Chairwoman, if

         18  you change the deal in midstream, other people's

         19  will not come back.

         20                 Well, I don't think that's true. All

         21  this bill says, to the extent that it enacts a

         22  little fee is, if the City and the State put in an

         23  enormous amount of resources into a building, and at

         24  the end of a term you are going to make a windfall

         25  profit to the damage of the public, we may reduce
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          2  your profit from windfall to substantial to lessen

          3  to some degree that pain suffered by the public.

          4  That is precisely what you're allowed to do under

          5  the State Constitution, it's precisely what it

          6  appears you've been doing and I congratulate the

          7  Committee. This is excellent legislation.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Next.

          9                 MR. BANKS: My name is Steven Banks,

         10  for the Legal Aid Society. I'm going to be very

         11  brief. We submitted written testimony. There are a

         12  number of people here waiting to testify and the

         13  testimony given just before me touched on many of

         14  the points that we would like to touch on, so let me

         15  just give you some highlights.

         16                 First of all, it's important to

         17  consider what the background of the legislation is.

         18  Tenants in the City are faced with really a perfect

         19  storm in a housing crisis. The combination of

         20  federal cuts in Section 8, in combination with the

         21  State rent protection laws, which are resulting in

         22  substantial numbers of units being decontrolled,

         23  public assistance grants for families and

         24  individuals are insufficient to pay the amount of

         25  money that's needed for rent. A family of three, for
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          2  example, now receives a grant of $400. There aren't

          3  apartments that can be rented for families of three

          4  for $400 in the City. Someone working in a minimum

          5  wage job at $5.15 an hour times 35 a week can't rent

          6  housing in this City. There's a vacancy rate of less

          7  than three percent. Again, the context of the

          8  Mitchell-Lama opt out issue comes against that

          9  perfect storm background.

         10                 In addition, unemployment continues

         11  to be the legacy of the September 11th disaster. The

         12  numbers of poor people in the City continue to be

         13  high and the amount of housing that's available

         14  continues to be scarce.

         15                 As the Chairperson and the members of

         16  this Committee are well aware, there are nearly

         17  39,000 men, women and children in the City's shelter

         18  system, at great public expense.

         19                 There are 25,000 tenants that are

         20  affected by the issue before the Council today.

         21  Imagine what it would be for this City if those

         22  25,000 people are added to the 39,000 people that

         23  are in the shelter system now in terms of cost.

         24                 Imagine where they would find housing

         25  in the City when we review the lack of affordable
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          2  housing caused by State Legislation, by federal

          3  decreases in support for Section 8 by the inadequacy

          4  of the public assistance shelter allowance and by

          5  the inadequacy of the minimum wage.

          6                 The question that you're asking is

          7  not just the background situation, but I think it's

          8  a real issue for the City to consider, in terms of

          9  the appropriateness of the legislation here to

         10  address the impact on the City of potentially nearly

         11  doubling the numbers of homeless people in the

         12  shelter systems of the City.

         13                 The testimony that was just given

         14  concerning the legality of the bill is direct and to

         15  the point.

         16                 This Council has repeatedly passed

         17  legislation to address the problems of homelessness

         18  in the City. Sections 21-121, 21-313, these are

         19  sections that the Council passed notwithstanding the

         20  fact that there had been state action with respect

         21  to the propriety of services and the adequacy of

         22  services for addressing homelessness.

         23                 Last but not least, the Public

         24  Housing Finance Law makes it clear that the City has

         25  authority in this area to address the needs and the
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          2  requirements and the operations of City-aided

          3  Mitchell-Lama properties, and while we are certainly

          4  concerned that this does not address the State-aided

          5  buildings, there can be no doubt that the City has

          6  authority over its own buildings, which is all this

          7  legislation is addressed to, the City's own aided

          8  building.

          9                 So, with that, I want to simply close

         10  and say, commend the Council for taking on this

         11  issue, we've provided you with written testimony,

         12  we're happy to answer questions with staff at any

         13  time.

         14                 Thank you very much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         16                 Council Member Gerson.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Just one more

         18  moment, Madam Chair. I've been generally refraining,

         19  but since the reference to the Seawall case has now

         20  come up at least three times that I recollect, I

         21  feel compelled to raise that in questioning and I

         22  would ask any or all of the witnesses who care to

         23  address the question, isn't there a material legal

         24  distinction between the facts and the Seawall case

         25  wherein the requisite payment was $45,000 per unit
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          2  or the entire replacement clause on the one hand,

          3  and on the other hand was the fee which this

          4  legislation seeks to impose which is no more than

          5  1,000 per unit, which is but a fraction of the

          6  monthly rent of many, if not all of these units,

          7  which owners would receive upon opting out.

          8                 I mean, can't we -- it strikes me

          9  that the Seawall case would not provide a precedent

         10  because of that market contrast between total

         11  replacement cost on one hand and a relatively

         12  nominal regulatory fee for a public purpose on the

         13  other hand, but I mean, am I missing something here?

         14                 MR. BANKS: That's a terrific question

         15  to ask because case law always turns on the facts,

         16  and the facts of this legislation are quite

         17  different from the fact that the courts were

         18  concerned about in the Seawall case.

         19                 Beyond the Seawall, beyond the facts

         20  that you're talking about, however, in the Seawall

         21  case you didn't have the kind of direct delegation

         22  in the Public Housing Finance Law that exists here,

         23  in terms of explicitly authorizing the City to take

         24  action to be involved in to regulate, to be

         25  concerned about operations. And I think the
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          2  testimony from my colleague here about the concept

          3  of an impact fee is yet another distinguishing

          4  factor between the Seawall situation and the

          5  situation here.

          6                 To look at something as an impact fee

          7  is quite different than the analysis of the court

          8  again applied to the Seawall legislation.

          9                 MR. MARLOW: Councilman Gerson, if I

         10  can, you nailed it right on the head that there is a

         11  line and as Mr. Banks explained, it moves on the

         12  facts of the case. Clearly taking 100 percent of the

         13  value of a unit would in fact be a taking, and

         14  perhaps this is where it's beneficial that I am

         15  here. When the original bill upon which this is

         16  based was written, one of the initial things

         17  considered going into it is, we cannot set up a

         18  structure that takes enough to be an

         19  unconstitutional taking. That question was at the

         20  very genesis of this bill. This is a small fee. I

         21  mean, if this tiny fee would be considered a taking,

         22  I can only imagine, you know, putting up a security

         23  wall would be a taking, paying taxes would be a

         24  taking. It really does have to be and you can look

         25  well beyond the seawall case to decades of

                                                            109

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  constitutional law, that will help this Council

          3  determine where the line is, but this impact fee

          4  doesn't come within a country mile of that line, so

          5  you should take comfort in that, Councilman.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          7                 Nick.

          8                 MR. LaPORTE: Since I'm in the

          9  minority on this panel, I'll disagree with my

         10  esteemed colleagues over here and simply state that

         11  --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Are you on?

         13                 MR. LaPORTE: I think I'm on. It was

         14  just on, so -- the mic is on.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay, go.

         16                 MR. LaPORTE: Okay, I agree with them

         17  to the extent that they say the facts will be the

         18  deciding issue. But the issue that will be before

         19  any court on this legislation will be a preemption

         20  issue. It will not be whether it's $1,000 a unit for

         21  $45,000 a unit, it will be whether you have the

         22  legal authority to pass this legislation.

         23                 MR. MARLOW: Just one final point on

         24  the preemption issue, Councilman.

         25                 I think the fact if you look at the
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          2  State Legislation, you'll see that the State

          3  actually empowered the City of New York as to its

          4  own buildings to create specific regulations that

          5  govern them, and you can actually find them within

          6  the City laws.

          7                 If the State had intended to preempt

          8  the field, it would not have gone ahead and said to

          9  New York I want to give you the responsibility to

         10  take care of your own units. Those two things are at

         11  odds with each other. If the State intended to

         12  preempt the field, it would have taken sole

         13  responsibility of governing this program. It

         14  specifically gave New York powers to control its own

         15  units, those are inconsistent.

         16                 MR. LaPORTE: I'm sorry, just one and

         17  I'll leave. He said, he gave the City authority to

         18  control their own units; these are not their own

         19  units that we're talking about.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, Madam

         21  Chair, I'm impressed that we have three attorneys,

         22  three people addressing legal issues and only two

         23  opinions. Usually you have many more than that. But

         24  that goes to the point that we need to address

         25  policy and then iron out the legalities to meet
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          2  policy, rather than the other way around. Or

          3  actually do both at the same time I should say.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you

          5  all.

          6                 Next, the next panel, Marolyn

          7  Davenport, Clayton Gillette and Naomi Carpenter.

          8                 Ms. Davenport, if you would like to

          9  start?

         10                 MS. DAVENPORT: Sure.

         11                 I'm Marolyn Davenport, from the Real

         12  Estate Board of New York, a trade association of

         13  over 6,000 owners, brokers, managers of commercial

         14  and residential real estate, including many

         15  developers of affordable housing.

         16                 Members of our Housing Committee

         17  currently participate in virtually all of the

         18  programs available to develop low, moderate and

         19  middle-income housing.

         20                 Following the rules of the

         21  Mitchell-Lama Program as developed some 30 years

         22  ago, property owners created tens of thousands of

         23  units. These rules carefully balance the interests

         24  of both property owners and residents. Changing the

         25  rules now would be a serious breach of faith and
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          2  would dissuade investors from creating much-needed

          3  units of new affordable housing in the future.

          4                 It would be illegal to impose the

          5  requirements proposed in Intro. 523 on owners on

          6  several grounds. The first and clearest reasons you

          7  cannot amend this program is that it is

          8  unconstitutional to do so.

          9                 The State put the program into place

         10  in the Private Housing Finance Law. The City is

         11  barred from passing a law which conflicts, and I

         12  emphasize conflicts. It's not a question of

         13  consistency, it's a total conflict, which you cannot

         14  do under the Home Rule provision of the

         15  Constitution.

         16                 The Private Housing Finance Law is a

         17  comprehensive statute which gives owners an

         18  unfettered, unqualified right to convert after the

         19  prescribed time period without the consent of the

         20  regulatory agency.

         21                 The City is also preempted by the

         22  Urstadt law, which says that the City cannot, the

         23  City's local legislative body cannot enact the

         24  statute regulating rents, and by requiring rents to

         25  be 30 percent income, you are regulating rents and
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          2  therefore in violation of the Urstadt law.

          3                 It is also unconstitutional under the

          4  federal constitution which states that no state

          5  shall pass any law impairing the obligation of

          6  contracts between two parties, this bill doesn't

          7  just impair the contract under which this housing

          8  was built, it shreds it. And let me be specific,

          9  we're not talking about some conceptual contract

         10  between developers and the State, these are specific

         11  contracts that govern the land disposition, the

         12  financing and the tax benefits, and they do exist.

         13                 Finally, it represents a taking of

         14  private property without just compensation, which is

         15  prohibited under both the federal and state

         16  constitutions. And a word about that, the thousand

         17  dollar impact fee is just the beginning of the cost

         18  that is exacted of the owner. There is a cost to

         19  mitigate or pay into a fund for HPD to provide

         20  affordable housing, so $1,000 is in no way talking

         21  about the actual cost that is referred to in the

         22  bill.

         23                 So, this is a clear violation of

         24  property rights.

         25                 There is another portion of this bill
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          2  that you need to look at again, the compliance

          3  investigation, because it is unfair and impossible

          4  for the City to implement.

          5                 It requires the owner to share

          6  compliance with all requirements of any contracts,

          7  of which there are several, land disposition

          8  agreement or regulations impacting the project for

          9  the past 30 years, that means the owner, which is

         10  not usually the original owner, would have to

         11  produce waiting lists, rent records, tax records,

         12  financial records, it's an endless list and it's not

         13  possible.

         14                 I want to point out that the projects

         15  that have bought out have all reached settlements

         16  with tenants. Those that have not bought out and not

         17  engaged with negotiations can't. It's not

         18  economically viable to do. So, I would urge you,

         19  instead of doing this, that you look at creative

         20  solutions, which we would be happy to work with you

         21  on, such as instituting voluntary programs,

         22  extending tax benefits, providing capital for

         23  capital improvements, lifting the cap on returns,

         24  allowing rent increases, but there are many projects

         25  in deep financial trouble and those are the ones you
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          2  should be focusing on.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          5                 MR. GILLETTE: Good afternoon. My name

          6  is Clayton Gillette and I'm the Maxi Greenberg

          7  Professor of Contract Law at New York University

          8  School of Law. Since entering law teaching 25 years

          9  ago, I have taught courses in State and local

         10  government law, I'm the author of a leading case

         11  book in the area and have written numerous articles,

         12  including some on state preemption of local

         13  ordinances.

         14                 I'm appearing today at the request of

         15  the Independence Plaza North Tenant's Association,

         16  the Campaign to Preserve Affordable Housing, to

         17  testify about the authority of the City Council to

         18  enact Intro. 523.

         19                 I believe the City Council does in

         20  fact possess the authority to enact Intro. 523 under

         21  its home rule power, which home rule provision

         22  permits the City to adopt and amend local laws not

         23  inconsistent with provisions of general law.

         24                 Under traditional analysis, state

         25  statutes will be considered inconsistent with local
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          2  ordinances and thus preempt their enactment in any

          3  of three situations:

          4                 First, inconsistency occurs with

          5  local ordinance, directly conflicts with the State

          6  Statute;

          7                 Second, inconsistency occurs with the

          8  State Statute and has explicitly stated its intent

          9  to preempt; and

         10                 Third, inconsistency exists where the

         11  state has so pervasively regulated an area that it

         12  is implied, impliedly preempted any additional

         13  regulation by a locality.

         14                 I believe that the New York courts

         15  following traditional analysis would conclude that

         16  none of these conditions is satisfied with respect

         17  to the proposed bill. Rather the bill provides a

         18  response to unique local conditions that the

         19  Legislature foresaw would permissibly augment State

         20  regulations. Those state regulations are best viewed

         21  as a floor rather than as a ceiling, so that local

         22  legislative bodies may in the exercise of the Home

         23  Rule authority respond to local emergencies with

         24  additional regulations.

         25                 Certainly nothing in the proposed
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          2  bill directly conflicts with the State Statute

          3  during the Mitchell-Lama program. The State statutes

          4  contain one explicit requirement with respect to

          5  conversion, and that requirement permits

          6  Mitchell-Lama owners to opt out of the program after

          7  20 years without the consent of the supervising

          8  agency. Nothing in the bill, however, requires the

          9  consent of the supervising agency.

         10                 The proposed bill may add to existing

         11  regulatory burdens and at some point regulation may

         12  become tantamount to the requirements of the

         13  consent. The proposed regulation, however, will

         14  assure that mark insofar as it permits owners to

         15  avoid the most onerous requirements by reaching

         16  settlements with tenants.

         17                 On the second avenue of

         18  inconsistency, there is certainly nothing in the law

         19  of the State that explicitly notes any preemptive

         20  intent, to the contrary, the State law is pervaded

         21  with references to municipal authority that can

         22  co-exist with state regulation.

         23                 The third avenue of analysis is more

         24  complicated. The relevant question here is whether

         25  the State statutory scheme impliedly preempts
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          2  additional local intervention. That may be found

          3  where there is a great need for Statewide

          4  uniformity. In this case, however, as the State

          5  statute's recognize, there is no need for uniformity

          6  throughout the State, because local housing

          7  conditions will vary dramatically from municipality

          8  to municipality throughout the State. In this

          9  particular situation, New York City certainly has a

         10  housing situation that varies dramatically from that

         11  of other municipalities within the State and

         12  therefore the need for uniformity that underlies a

         13  finding of implicit preemption does not exist.

         14                 For all the above reasons, and for

         15  the reasons that I expand on in my written testimony

         16  that I've submitted to you, I conclude that New York

         17  courts applying traditional tests of local

         18  government authority, we find the proposed bill does

         19  fall squarely within the home rule authority of New

         20  York City. It does not conflict with any state

         21  statute that addresses a similar subject matter, and

         22  it is not explicitly or impliedly preempted by State

         23  statute. Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         25                 Next.
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          2                 MS. CARPENTER: Hello. Hello, okay?

          3  Good afternoon, to the staff. My name is Naomi

          4  Carpenter, I am an 85-year-old old American. I am a

          5  tenant of Independent Plaza. I am also active in

          6  Local CWA 1180 at the corner of Harrison and Hudson

          7  Street, to the City Council members, and Bobby, I

          8  extend thanks for your interests concern, and of the

          9  problem.

         10                 In reference to Intro. Bill 523, we

         11  need it passed as soon as possible. This will be a

         12  good deal or deed. Councilman Gerson, Speaker

         13  Miller, your interests and concern are valued by the

         14  tenants of our building.

         15                 Having this forum we are very

         16  beneficial to all of us. We are all hard-working,

         17  decent people, with who built this community before

         18  it was Tribeca or anything else, we, the grassroot

         19  tenants, built this area from dirt and rubble. It

         20  was a disaster. We care for our homes, we hope to

         21  remain without harassment, we went through the

         22  blackout, the World Trade Center tragedy, we made a

         23  commitment to stay downtown in New York. We want our

         24  homes. All of us as tenants get along. It's a

         25  diversity community. Leave us in peace without
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          2  harassment. Please pass the bill. I have medical,

          3  like any others, affects from 9/11, due to the

          4  tragedy that happened here. I thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: I would

          6  please ask you once again not to applaud as everyone

          7  testifies. And you get the prize, because you're the

          8  first one that came in under three minutes.

          9                 MS. CARPENTER: Oh, good. Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: I don't know

         11  what the prize is.

         12                 MS. CARPENTER: It's a surprise.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, Madam

         14  Chair, in that case I've got to pose some questions

         15  so she can fill out her three minutes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: No, that's

         17  okay. We still have a lot more to go.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Actually I'll

         19  be very brief.

         20                 Ms. Carpenter, how long have you

         21  lived at IPN?

         22                 MS. CARPENTER: Since 1978.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you.

         24  Thank you very much for being here.

         25                 MS. CARPENTER: It was nothing but the
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          2  Washington Market, trucks, dirty streets, no curb,

          3  no stores to shop in. I used to travel all the way

          4  to Sloan's across the other side of the country

          5  (sic) to get food. But it's nice now because we made

          6  it nice, all of us. And we get along. We're

          7  international --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: You're still

          9  under your three minutes. Thank you.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Mr. Greenberg

         11  (sic), could you address this point of the so-called

         12  taking the issue of the legality of the thousand

         13  dollar impact fee and the follow-up impact

         14  mitigation payment provisions in the bill from the

         15  legal standpoint, your thoughts on that?

         16                 MR. GILLETTE: You asked me?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Yes.

         18                 MR. GILLETTE: It's Mr. Gillette.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Oh, I'm sorry.

         20                 MR. GILLETTE: It's quite all right. I

         21  answer to hey you or anything.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: No, no, we

         23  want to be accurate. I thank you very much.

         24                 MR. GILLETTE: But I must admit, on

         25  this particular issue, I have not made an
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          2  investigation into the taking question, and I'm very

          3  reluctant to enter into a fray. I think that some of

          4  these legal issues are fascinatingly interestingly,

          5  but for that very reason, it seems to me that having

          6  not made the kind of examination I want to do, in

          7  order to give you a full legal opinion, I ought not

          8  to speak to the issue.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: At the very

         10  least it's not something one should answer off the

         11  top of one's head that it would require an illegal

         12  analysis, which presumably the Council attorneys, by

         13  the way, have done. But at the very least it would

         14  require an analysis.

         15                 MR. GILLETTE: Most certainly.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: It's not clear

         17  on its face.

         18                 MR. GILLETTE: And an intricate

         19  analysis that I feel quite comfortable speaking to

         20  the preemption question, which someone mentioned

         21  earlier with you, one of the key issues here, and I

         22  feel quite comfortable, based on that intricate

         23  analysis I have made, that in fact this bill is not

         24  preempted by any inconsistent state law.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And finally,
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          2  Ms. Davenport, it's good to see you also.

          3                 Isn't it the case that currently

          4  where the owner initiates the opting out process

          5  typically, if not all the time therein sues,

          6  litigation, political turmoil, if you will, which

          7  drags on for a year or more or many years which

          8  extracts its cost from owners, as well as from

          9  residents, and if this bill, this extension of time,

         10  the other provisions were to supplant that extensive

         11  litigation, wouldn't that be a benefit to owners and

         12  residents and community alike?

         13                 MS. DAVENPORT: The problem I see,

         14  Councilman, is as you've heard the two of us discuss

         15  the legal issues, I think you supplant it with a lot

         16  of litigation about the bill.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Once we get

         18  beyond that, then we'll have a settled situation for

         19  each building, but I hear your point, I hear your

         20  answer.

         21                 Thank you very much, Madam Chair.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank all of

         23  you.

         24                 The next panel, Joe Weisbord, Alan

         25  Epstein, Dorothy Barnhouse.
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          2                 Please, someone start. Anybody.

          3                 MR. WEISBORD: Good afternoon, Madam

          4  Chair, members of the Committee.

          5                 My name is Joe Weisbord, I'm staff

          6  Director of Housing First and Alliance of community,

          7  business, civic, religious and labor organizations,

          8  all committed to promoting solutions to the City's

          9  worsening housing crisis.

         10                 I want to thank you, Madam Chair, and

         11  members of the Committee for your support for

         12  affordable housing and to acknowledge your

         13  leadership in our last budget cycle in helping to at

         14  least initiate the process of rebuilding the City's

         15  capital budget for affordable housing for a new

         16  commitment of $25 million.

         17                 We're pleased to have the opportunity

         18  today to elevate the issue of preserving the

         19  affordable housing stock of the City that's at risk

         20  due to aspiring affordability restrictions and to

         21  emphasize the important role of the public sector in

         22  advancing workable solutions.

         23                 So, we're encouraged that Speaker

         24  Miller and the Council are taking on this issue in

         25  hope that working with the Mayor as well as key
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          2  partners in State and local government, we can begin

          3  to comprehensively address the issue the City faces

          4  as a result of expiring use restrictions.

          5                 All of you are all too familiar with

          6  the facts of the City's housing crisis and the

          7  central issue of affordability, and therefore

          8  preserving the existing affordable housing stock has

          9  got to be central to the City's strategy.

         10                 I want to raise one issue here that

         11  even while the viability of thousands of units are

         12  at risk due to physical and financial distress, in

         13  certain respects, as daunting as it is, the 120,000

         14  or so units of Mitchell-Lama housing in the City are

         15  some ways just the tip of the iceberg.

         16                 New York City has over 400,000 units,

         17  nearly 20 percent of its rental stock that are

         18  subsidized with federal resources, the Mitchell-Lama

         19  rental stock along with federally subsidized

         20  project-based Section 8 units represent the most

         21  immediate challenge for the City, but other problems

         22  loom ahead. The 15-year compliance period for

         23  thousands of units developed with federal low-income

         24  housing tax credits will end in a few years and

         25  changing federal policy on public housing could mean
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          2  an uncertain future for over 180,000 low-cost rental

          3  units operated by the City's Housing Authority.

          4                 Given the City's already serious

          5  housing affordability problems, the potential

          6  cumulative loss of lower cost units targeted to

          7  lower income households would be devastating.

          8  Ultimately production efforts will yield little

          9  benefit if the City continues to lose affordable

         10  units.

         11                 So, effective responses will require

         12  a coordinated action by many parties, residents

         13  present and/or future owners, financial institutions

         14  and all levels of government, and while state and

         15  federal government are frequently key players, the

         16  further loss of affordable units directly affects

         17  the City's ability to address its housing needs.

         18  Bottom line is, local public sector leadership is

         19  critical to realizing sustainable solutions.

         20                 Once again, thanks for your

         21  commitment to affordable housing and for the

         22  opportunity to testify.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you

         24  very much.

         25                 Next.
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          2                 MR. EPSTEIN: Good afternoon. My name

          3  is Alan Epstein. My name is Alan Epstein and I'm a

          4  partner in the law firm of Manatt, Phelps and

          5  Phillips. Our firm has been retained by Independence

          6  Plaza North Tenants Association in connection with a

          7  proposed conversion of their homes out of the

          8  Mitchell-Lama Program. Attached to this statement is

          9  a legal memorandum which discusses in greater detail

         10  the legal issues involved with this matter. We

         11  believe the Council clearly has legal authority to

         12  pass Intro. 523.

         13                 The intro is a measured bill which

         14  amends the existing opt out guidelines and makes

         15  project owners responsible for a greater, though

         16  still small portion, of the ramifications of their

         17  actions. The intro is drafted carefully in

         18  consultation with the lawyers to the Council to work

         19  with in the existing regulatory structure that has

         20  withstood judicial scrutiny and stays well within

         21  the Council's authority so as to avoid conflicting

         22  with state law.

         23                 The intro amends the existing City

         24  regulations for City-sponsored Mitchell-Lama

         25  projects and requires project owners of these
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          2  projects seeking to opt out, to give notice to HPD

          3  and the tenants at least 18 months before completing

          4  the conversion process, prove the development's

          5  compliance with the Mitchell-Lama regulations and

          6  pay fines for material non-compliance, and either

          7  complete or pay for mitigation of the major adverse

          8  impacts of the conversion.

          9                 In addition, the intro mandates the

         10  payment of a one-time administrative Mitchell-Lama

         11  community impact fee of $1,000 per unit by each

         12  project owner who seeks to opt out.

         13                 This fee would be used by HPD to

         14  conduct a study of the major adverse impacts of the

         15  conversion, and to supervise the applicable project

         16  owners particular conversion process.

         17                 The intro grants HPD the

         18  discretionary power to waive the requirements of the

         19  intro, including paying the fee and doing the

         20  mitigation, if the project owner and the residents

         21  enter into a settlement which both preserves the

         22  project as affordable housing and maintains at a

         23  minimum the same level of building staff, services

         24  and staffing.

         25                 This provision provides an incentive
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          2  to both parties to negotiate, with oversight from

          3  the City, a resolution that achieves the goals'

          4  outlined in the bill's preamble.

          5                 The Council clearly has authority to

          6  enact the intro, it's clearly not preempted. The

          7  State Constitution grants broad authority to local

          8  governments, expressly provides local governments

          9  with powers to adopt and amend local laws not

         10  inconsistent with the State Constitution.

         11                 The general City law reinforces these

         12  powers, states the City has powers to regulate,

         13  manage, control its local affairs, and is granted

         14  rights, privileges and jurisdiction necessary to and

         15  proper for carrying out such execution.

         16                 These general statements of local

         17  power confirmed by the Municipal Home Rule, which

         18  also gives the City broad powers to administer local

         19  taxes authorized by State Legislatures, and of

         20  assessment for local improvements and to fix, levy

         21  and collect and administer local government rentals,

         22  charters, rates or fees.

         23                 Finally, the structure of the

         24  Mitchell-Lama statute precludes any claim that the

         25  Intro conflicts with State law. The Mitchell-Lama
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          2  statute grants the municipalities a co-equal role at

          3  the state in the financing and establishment of the

          4  Mitchell-Lama developments. The statute grants HPD

          5  as the supervising agency broad authority to set

          6  rules for supervise, review, and monitor City

          7  Mitchell-Lama housing projects.

          8                 HPD's regulatory authority begins at

          9  conception and it continues throughout the process.

         10                 MS. BARNHOUSE: My name is Dorothy

         11  Barnhouse. This is the third year I have prepared

         12  testimony about Mitchell-Lama to the City Council,

         13  but it's too late, actually, for me and my

         14  neighbors.

         15                 I live at 20 Henry Street in Brooklyn

         16  Heights. I will not be living there next month. I'm

         17  being evicted. All of the tenants in the 42

         18  apartments at 20 Henry Street are being evicted. My

         19  husband and I, who have lived there since 1989, and

         20  our two elementary school children, my next door

         21  neighbor who is a senior citizen and has lived there

         22  since the building was first occupied in 1975, our

         23  other neighbors who are teachers, social workers and

         24  artists. None of us are being allowed to stay. Not

         25  at middle-income rents, not at market rents, not at
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          2  any type.

          3                 This is what comes of a middle-income

          4  housing program that has a 20-year limitation. This

          5  is what comes of a middle-income housing program

          6  that leaves tenants with no protections. This middle

          7  income housing program in fact carries the seeds of

          8  an eviction program, and what happens to New York

          9  City as we stand back and let this happen? What will

         10  Brooklyn Heights and Tribeca and the Upper West Side

         11  look like when only stock brokers and corporate

         12  attorneys can afford to live there? And what will

         13  our schools and hospitals look like if the people

         14  who work there can't afford to live here? And who

         15  will the working families displace as we move into

         16  the so-called more affordable neighborhoods, and

         17  where in turn will these people go, the people with

         18  fewer means, fewer wage earners in their families,

         19  lower-paying jobs? And how many jobs and how many

         20  hours do we have to work to be able to afford to

         21  live in this City, and who looks after our children

         22  while we're working? Like six degrees of separation,

         23  one crisis leads into another.

         24                 This is not some inexorable economic

         25  process we have no control over. This is hard to
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          2  acknowledge. It's much easier to shrugg and say

          3  paying half your income in rent is part of living in

          4  New York, get used to it. This does not have to be

          5  true. Laws have created this problem, and laws can

          6  help solve it.

          7                 The creation of our community as a

          8  stable pocket of diversity was purposeful and

          9  planned. Unless purposeful plans are made now to

         10  protect the vision behind our middle-income

         11  communities, others like 20 Henry Street will also

         12  be destroyed.

         13                 We urgently call on you to follow the

         14  example of the visionaries who created our

         15  communities and preserve affordable housing for the

         16  good of the entire City.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you

         19  very much.

         20                 Council Member Stewart.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you,

         22  Madam Chair. I heard you said awhile ago you had no

         23  choice, you had to be --

         24                 MS. BARNHOUSE: That's right.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Could you
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          2  explain that?

          3                 MS. BARNHOUSE: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Because I

          5  can't understand if you have been living there all

          6  these years you being summarily dismissed from that

          7  location, I cannot understand that.

          8                 MS. BARNHOUSE: We can't understand it

          9  either, but that is apparently the law. We do not

         10  meet the requirements for rent stabilized

         11  protections because we were first occupying the

         12  building in 1975.

         13                 Rent stabilized protections, which

         14  would keep us from being evicted summarily at the

         15  owners' will, only pertain to those buildings that

         16  were occupied before 1974.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: So what

         18  you're saying, that in New York City we have a

         19  two-tier system whereby multiple dwellings, some

         20  will have --

         21                 MS. BARNHOUSE: That's right.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: --protection

         23  and others will not have protection?

         24                 MS. BARNHOUSE: Right. That's right.

         25  Those buildings that do not meet the rent stabilized
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          2  requirements which are any building that was

          3  occupied before 1974 have those protections. Even

          4  though we are a Mitchell-Lama building and are

          5  coming out of Mitchell-Lama, we are not afforded any

          6  of those rental protections. We've been fighting

          7  this in courts for four years, and we are losing our

          8  battle and every tenant is out as our leases come

          9  due.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Madam Chair,

         11  I have a question that I want to ask you, because

         12  I'm somewhat lost.

         13                 I thought that any building that is

         14  over six units under the law of rent stabilization

         15  or rent control, can I get some clarity on that?

         16                 Because I'm kind of lost. I thought

         17  you were protected in a sense that is a multiple

         18  dwelling that you can, you're somewhat protected.

         19                 MS. NASSER: Yes. Terzah Nasser,

         20  Counsel to the Committee on Housing and Buildings.

         21                 The State Legislature actually

         22  excluded certain multiple dwellings from rent

         23  regulation that was done, actually any building

         24  that's a post-74 is not covered. So the buildings

         25  that were constructed or substantially rehabilitated
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          2  are not covered. So, that's the long and short of

          3  it.

          4                 I mean, basically the legislation

          5  that the Mayor's Office was proposing would actually

          6  want to pick-up the post-74 buildings. That's part

          7  of the Mayor's proposal, that's what the State rep

          8  who was sitting here said that he actually wanted to

          9  review whatever this bill was and commit to

         10  sponsoring it, but that's basically what the Silver

         11  Bill also would have done.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         13  Thank all of you.

         14                 Our next panel, we are reducing the

         15  time to two minutes because we still have a lot of

         16  people that want to speak and time is running out

         17  and Council Members that have stayed with me, we are

         18  down to myself and two others, do have other

         19  commitments.

         20                 Vito Suppa, are you here? Okay.

         21  Constantine Harrison, are you there? Elizabeth

         22  Gilmore, are you here? Second call, Elizabeth

         23  Gilmore? Okay, you're not.

         24                 Scott Duprey.

         25                 One of you may start. Please identify
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          2  yourself and please keep your statements to two

          3  minutes. Thank you.

          4                 MR. SUPPA: Hello. I'd like to thank

          5  the Chair, and I'd like to thank the Council members

          6  that are remaining here to listen to our pleas.

          7                 My name is Vito Suppa. I am the

          8  President of the Downtown Little League of

          9  Manhattan.

         10                 I am also a Tribeca resident, since

         11  it was Washington Market. I have lived below Canal

         12  Street for close to 30 years.

         13                 After many years as a Little League

         14  volunteer and vice president, I became president of

         15  the league in September 2001.

         16                 When many of us were forced or chose

         17  to leave our homes due to the attack, I stayed, like

         18  all the residents of IPN. I stayed to rebuild our

         19  community and to rebuild our City.

         20                 Downtown Little League is an

         21  organization which is composed of 500 kids we serve,

         22  and countless volunteers from our community, to

         23  enable us to function.

         24                 These volunteers are diverse in so

         25  many ways, ethnically, economically, socially,
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          2  diverse by age, race and gender. Because of this

          3  diversity they individually bring to us many

          4  different ideas and points of view and collectively

          5  they create the heart and soul which keeps us a

          6  vibrant youth organization.

          7                 If we were all bankers or all

          8  carpenters like myself, we would fail at our task

          9  like so many dinosaurs in the past.

         10                 In the bigger picture, those diverse

         11  qualities create the heart and soul of our

         12  community. At IPN we are bankers and carpenters,

         13  teachers, Transit workers, musicians, artists,

         14  police, firefighters, stock traders and every other

         15  vocation you can think of, even a former member of

         16  the City Council.

         17                 My daughter has grown up in IPN,

         18  knowing that the world is filled with many different

         19  types of people, and that our diversity makes us

         20  strong and proud New Yorkers.

         21                 After September 11th, I risked my

         22  life and risked the life of my family to stay here,

         23  to stand and fight terror by rebuilding our

         24  community, and rebuilding our City. I've given

         25  everything to my City. Please, don't force me out.
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          2  The City I was born in belongs to me. The City my

          3  grandparents came to for a better life, the City

          4  three generations of my family helped to build, rent

          5  protection is our only hope.

          6                 A fair market, and the middle class

          7  don't mix. A two-bedroom apartment in Battery Park

          8  City goes for more than $4,000.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Please sum

         10  up.

         11                 MR. SUPPA: Please, don't let any

         12  wealthy carpet bagger come to my neighborhood and

         13  force me out just to add a few dollars to his

         14  millions. Don't let greed kill our City.

         15                 So, we appeal to you, the City

         16  Council and the Mayor, to do the right thing for our

         17  City, support the legislation that will help us keep

         18  thousands of New York families New Yorkers. Please

         19  keep affordable housing affordable.

         20                 Thank you very much.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: I'm once

         22  again asking you to stay within the time limit.

         23                 I do have the option of just ending

         24  the hearing right now, if that's more suitable, but

         25  I would suggest that rather than do that you stay
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          2  within the two-minute time limit so that the folks

          3  that are here can be heard.

          4                 MR. DUPREY: Good afternoon, Madam

          5  Chairwoman, members of the Board and ladies and

          6  gentlemen of the audience. My name is Scott Duprey.

          7  I was born and raised in the Lower East Side of

          8  Manhattan, and to this day I make my home at Lands

          9  End 1, located at 257 Clinton Street.

         10                 I say my home because I've been there

         11  since I was five-years-old. That is the only home

         12  I've ever known. My parents and I are the original

         13  tenants of the dwelling. My mom has worked for the

         14  City for 35 years, ironically enough, in the Real

         15  Property Department processing those tax credits

         16  that limited profit corporations get.

         17                 Basically I'm just here to speak on

         18  what I feel is a certain hypocrisy that's been going

         19  on, in which we have a City Administration that's

         20  been, since the World Trade Center disaster,

         21  pleading with people to stay in Lower Manhattan, and

         22  we have residents of Lower Manhattan who have been

         23  there, who have made lives here, who have built

         24  families here, and are now basically in a position

         25  to find themselves summarily evicted from their
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          2  dwellings, from their homes.

          3                 Again, you have people representing

          4  the various landlords and the various corporations

          5  who talk about these apartments as if they were

          6  simple property, you know, of value, and it's true

          7  they are property and they do have a monetary value,

          8  but there's more than that.

          9                 They talk about how the City went

         10  back on their agreement with them back 20 years ago,

         11  but what about the faith that we showed by staying?

         12  I mean, my parents stayed and raised a family there,

         13  they built lives there, we helped build this

         14  community, and now I'm just seeing this City being

         15  turned into a playground for wealthy tourists,

         16  tourists, who are the first ones to run away at the

         17  sign of terrorism or any strife or anything like

         18  that, you know? We are the ones who have stayed

         19  through the good times and the bad times, we are the

         20  ones who fought to make our community what it is,

         21  and we are constantly fighting just to be treated as

         22  equals, you know.

         23                 I guess that's basically it. A lot of

         24  the points I wanted to make were already made by

         25  others. So, thank you for your time and the
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          2  opportunity to be heard.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          4                 Next.

          5                 MR. HARRISON: I just want to throw a

          6  few questions to you guys.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Could you just

          8  state your name and residence?

          9                 MR. HARRISON: The name is Harrison. I

         10  live in Phipps Plaza West. That's up in Second

         11  Avenue and 28th Street.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: If I can

         13  interrupt, before you start, this is a hearing which

         14  means we listen, we don't have questions, so just

         15  make a statement.

         16                 MR. HARRISON: Okay, fine.

         17                 The gist of what I want to say is

         18  that we need to take the profit out of living space.

         19  People have a right to their homes. People build the

         20  community and they should benefit from it.

         21                 You don't have to be a mathematician

         22  to understand that if people paid less rent, the

         23  whole community would benefit simply. People would

         24  go out to dinner more, they take their friends out

         25  to the theater more, as opposed to that money going
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          2  into one direction, wherein these guys try to

          3  control the system by, if you want to say buying

          4  power.

          5                 The other thing is, nobody, I haven't

          6  seen anyone who can tell me they own this planet.

          7  The plant is here for all its inhabitants to live in

          8  harmony and sustenance. Why should I have to pay

          9  somebody to sleep on this planet? The profit, again,

         10  to reiterate, must be taken out of living space. And

         11  you don't have to be a mathematician to know this.

         12                 If people pay less rent, they will

         13  live and the community will prosper because the

         14  local restaurants will profit, the banks would

         15  profit, okay? The airline would profit, as opposed

         16  to that money going in the one direction alone, and

         17  these guys are always claiming, I don't call them

         18  landlords, you know, I call them "land parasites."

         19  And let me wrap this up. Socrates said something

         20  2,500 years ago. He said, briefly, where land owner

         21  rules, you don't have a democracy, you have a

         22  temocracy (phonetic) and that leads eventually to an

         23  alagarte (phonetic) and that eventually leads to

         24  tyranny and we're having tyranny right now from land

         25  owners, okay? We need to get rid of the profit, get
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          2  rid of the profit out of living space, period, and

          3  you'll have a better community.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you

          5  very much.

          6                 Thank all of you. Sylvia Mendel, Rita

          7  Popper, Anne Compoccia.

          8                 Do you want to start?

          9                 MS. MENDEL: Yes. My name is Sylvia

         10  Mendel. I live in Phipps Plaza West, which has just

         11  been bought out, but I'm here to support all the

         12  other Mitchell Lama candidates.

         13                 The gentleman who just quoted

         14  Socrates is one of my neighbors.

         15                 I had a longer to say but I'll

         16  confine it to two minutes, and focus on just two

         17  points and chuck out all the rest of what I had to

         18  say.

         19                 The two points. Most of the Mitchell

         20  Lama people who live in the Mitchell Lama subsidized

         21  buildings, a large majority of them are women, and

         22  most of the people who pay 50 percent or more of

         23  their income's rent are older people, most of whom

         24  are women, and young families. I just wanted to

         25  point that out, in case you don't know it, you have
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          2  something to rant and rave about. The other thing I

          3  wanted to say is that we would have been visible,

          4  this is an invisible story, it's like the elephant

          5  in the room, we would have been visible much earlier

          6  had the New York Times paid attention to affordable

          7  housing.

          8                 So, I want you all to know there's a

          9  new person at the New York Times who is called the

         10  public editor and you must all write and insist that

         11  they do our story, because so far we've only been a

         12  real estate story.

         13                 We're not a real estate story, we're

         14  a loss of homes story, and unless you take up your

         15  pen and your computer, write the Times, they are the

         16  paper of record, if it's not there it isn't a story.

         17  So that's basically what I wanted to say. We've been

         18  bought out, we're in litigation, we have our rents

         19  on hold until the Judge decides otherwise, unless we

         20  go to trial, and we are having a hard time raising

         21  money and we are just in a struggle for two years

         22  now, and I'm tired and I don't want my life ruled by

         23  having to fight for my home. I agree with

         24  Constantine, I don't want to have to fight for my

         25  home. These aren't the pioneer days anymore.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you

          4  very much.

          5                 MS. COMPOCCIN: My name is Anne

          6  Compoccin. I've lived at Independence Plaza for 29

          7  years. This Council at this time has an opportunity

          8  to make history by preserving the diversity of our

          9  housing complex.

         10                 Many call it Tribeca because some

         11  fancy real estate person a long time ago looked at a

         12  map and saw that this area was below Canal Street in

         13  the form of a triangle, it's what Tribeca stands

         14  for, triangle below Canal Street. But you know what

         15  it really is? The legitimate legal name is the

         16  Washington Market Urban Renewal Area, and I, like

         17  others that you've heard speak here today, are part

         18  of that. We made the renewal possible, not the City,

         19  not this landlord but the people who went and lived

         20  in that area starting in late 1974.

         21                 I just want you to know about

         22  diversity. I live on the seventh floor in one of the

         23  towers. On that floor is an African-American family

         24  with three children, a senior citizen, one gay

         25  couple, one Latino woman, two Eastern European women
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          2  working, all workers and myself. We even have a

          3  family who are from Tibet. Now you talk about

          4  diversity on one floor, that combination of

          5  neighbors who get along and work together, imagine

          6  the rest of that complex.

          7                 So, I think you should take this bill

          8  and pass it. And then I think you should contact

          9  your fellow legislators in the State of New York,

         10  especially those republicans who live in Upstate New

         11  York who represent parts of Upstate New York who

         12  don't even understand what it's like to live in the

         13  City of New York, and tell them that if they don't

         14  make better Mitchell Lama housing for us, then those

         15  of us who live here in the five boroughs will move

         16  up there, and then they will pass it to keep us out

         17  of their nice white landia.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Excuse me,

         21  Madam Chair.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: We actually

         23  have Assemblyman Vito Lopez in the audience who

         24  promised me that he won't testify, but I think that

         25  we implore him to sponsor the legislation that the
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          2  Mayor has initiated today.

          3                 I'm sorry.

          4                 MS. POPPER: Madam Chairwoman, and

          5  members of the Council, my name is Rita Popper. I am

          6  the President of the Tenants Association at

          7  Knickerbocker Plaza, which is located on Second

          8  Avenue between 91st and 92nd Street.

          9                 We were pioneers. The area that we

         10  lived in was Urban Renewal. Nothing was built above

         11  87th Street from First Avenue to Third Avenue.

         12                 We have made the neighborhood, and I

         13  resent that HPD is saying, keeping the rents steady

         14  today, what about the days we moved in? Yes, we

         15  didn't have a supermarket, and the last time that

         16  housing was taken out of people's hands was during

         17  World War II and that was for race, and now we're

         18  taking housing out for economics. That is not the

         19  American way. We are imploring you, we are coming to

         20  the City Council because you're going to be our

         21  hero, you are our people on white charges, you are

         22  the people who can make something happen.

         23                 We have tried the State and now to

         24  hear HPD sit here and talk about 20 years, what were

         25  they thinking, what were they not doing knowing that
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          2  the 20 years were going to come up. None of us who

          3  signed leases 28 years ago knew that in 20 years we

          4  could lose our home. We are asking you, we're

          5  begging you, to take the leadership, pass 523, it's

          6  a start. It puts us on square one of a very large

          7  Chess board. It's not against the landlord. He's

          8  entitled to make a profit, he's not entitled to

          9  gouge.

         10                 We are entitled to pay our rent. We

         11  are not entitled not to pay our rent. So, we're

         12  asking for your help. Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you

         14  very much.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Excuse me,

         16  Madam Chair. I'd just like to note briefly for the

         17  record that Anne Compoccin is a longstanding

         18  community leader and long-serving community board

         19  chair, and her testimony here is just another

         20  contribution in addition to many. So, we thank you

         21  for being here.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Rose Peck,

         23  Elizabeth Berger, Jean Grillo. Whoever wants to

         24  start, please start.

         25                 MS. GRILLO: My name is Jean Grillo
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          2  and I am the female district, democratic district

          3  leader, but on a personal note, I moved into Tribeca

          4  in 1972, we used to call it "belowHo" because we

          5  couldn't afford SoHo. My landlord literally came out

          6  on his knees and begged us to please move into this

          7  decrepid building. All the shoe wholesalers had

          8  gone. He had commercial space, they owed him

          9  thousands of dollars in back rent. We made a deal

         10  with him, and I think what we did, that ended up

         11  with the Loft Law, could be effective in what you're

         12  doing with the Mitchell Lama. Because the landlord

         13  was willing to break all kinds of rules to get us in

         14  there. That's them, they didn't care about what was

         15  legal, what wasn't, he wanted his rent money, we

         16  kept him out of bankruptcy. Eventually working with

         17  the City Council we were able to create a loft law

         18  where together I paid for 50 percent of all the

         19  improvements in his building, and, yes, my rent goes

         20  up every couple of years, but I'm allowed to stay in

         21  the neighborhood that I've helped create.

         22                 I want to mention one thing about

         23  IPN. In the 30 some odd years that I've been there,

         24  I've been the first Brownie Troop Leader, the first

         25  Girlscout leader, PTA president, there is no
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          2  question that Independence Plaza not only brought

          3  diversity, but kept the neighborhood mixed. I have

          4  people now that I meet living in luxury that they're

          5  not American citizens. The apartments that they have

          6  down in Tribeca are not even in their primary

          7  residence. This is a second or a third home, they're

          8  not going to vote in local elections, they're not

          9  going to care about local schools, I think as

         10  politicians you're doing yourself a big favor by

         11  supporting this legislation, because you're keeping

         12  the people that are going to support you back. So, I

         13  thank you, Alan and the rest, for taking this very

         14  brave first step. It's a very important first step,

         15  but it's necessary. Thank you very much for taking a

         16  step.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         18                 Next.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you for

         20  all you do.

         21                 MS. BERGER: Hi. My name is Elizabeth

         22  Berger, and I've been living in Tribeca in

         23  Independence Plaza for 27 years.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Is your mic

         25  on?
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          2                 MS. BERGER: It's on now.

          3                 Okay, I'm the single parent of two

          4  teenage children. They were born here, grew up here,

          5  and I have a -- a did have a somewhat lengthy thing

          6  about developing Tribeca and being a part of the

          7  park board, the community board, all these other

          8  things, which I think you've heard over and over

          9  again. So, I thought maybe if you'll allow me, I'm

         10  just going to speak personally for just a minute,

         11  because I'm one of those people who probably falls

         12  in between the cracks here.

         13                 A lot of the people have spoken about

         14  these sticky vouchers, that they assume 66 percent

         15  of Independent Plaza will qualify for, and I think

         16  you're going to hear again and again that this is

         17  going to keep a diverse group of people in the

         18  building, and I want, we've been doing some research

         19  on it and I want you folks to know that this is

         20  really not the case, because when you talk about

         21  $59,000 annual income, as a single parent with two

         22  children, at this point I have a new job, I lost my

         23  job on September 11th, I'm making around 50, if I do

         24  really well and I get a couple of raises, maybe a

         25  bonus, I'm off the program. I get a bonus one time
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          2  -- all sticky vouchers, if you do not come back on.

          3  So, that's it. Then my rent becomes immediately

          4  market value. There's no security in that and

          5  there's no way that I'll be able to stay. The rents,

          6  as someone else pointed out, Battery Park City about

          7  $4,000 plus for a two-bedroom apartment, and it's

          8  really important to look at the reality of this, and

          9  I appreciate and am thrilled to hear about the

         10  possible legislation in Albany. I totally agree that

         11  we have room for both City legislation, as well as

         12  the State legislation. There's no reason why they

         13  can't work concurrently. We need all the help that

         14  we can get, and I appreciate your help and hopefully

         15  you'll help me continue to live here so I can help

         16  you folks.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         18                 MS. PECK: Hi. I'd like to say my name

         19  is Rose Peck. I'm a tenant for over 27 years, and

         20  president of Glen Gardens Tenants Association since

         21  June 25th this year, located at 175 West 87th

         22  Street, on the Upper West Side of Manhattan.

         23                 Our owners are Murray Smith, and a

         24  son-in-law attorney Sherwood Gurnsey, from

         25  Massachusetts.
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          2                 First, let me thank Madam Chair, all

          3  speakers and all guests, for being here today, in

          4  support of IPN, Mitchell-Lama conversion protection

          5  bill, Intro. 523 of the Council's City of New York.

          6                 Second, every Mitchell-Lama building

          7  should give thanks, praise and encouragement to any

          8  organization and/or agency that even attempts to

          9  save any Mitchell-Lama building today. If

         10  legislation, government officials, et cetera, just

         11  try to save one building and that number increases,

         12  we all would be in a better position than we are

         13  now. This way you wouldn't have constant evictions

         14  or Glenn Gardens, which is not rent stabilized, has

         15  already been bought out and there's an uproar

         16  because we know we've been sold out by those that

         17  stood to benefit, except for the tenants.

         18                 Third, yes, we are Glenn Gardens in

         19  support of Intro. 523. We're also been (sic) bought

         20  out June 27th.

         21                 Real quickly let me just say this: If

         22  you're going to go through a buy-out, there's a lot

         23  of things you need to know and Glenn Gardens should

         24  be a perfect example. Anyone that's getting ready to

         25  go through buy-outs, come see us, we'll help you
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          2  prepare as what not to do, such as getting attorneys

          3  that support you, politicians, separation of

          4  tenants, signing blank leases, security deposits,

          5  all kinds of conflicts with HPD in determining our

          6  income and our security deposit, construction and

          7  renovations with no work permit, little to no

          8  repairs for the old tenants, everything for the new

          9  market rent tenant, eviction, special privileges,

         10  possibly submetering, leases, when do they expire

         11  for the Section 8 vouchers, landlords that might opt

         12  out of the Section 8 vouchers next year, is our

         13  building going condo -- there's a lot of things that

         14  we all have to consider.

         15                 And I want to say one more thing,

         16  Madam Chair, if it's okay with you? In New York

         17  Times there was an article on Alfred A. Lama in

         18  January 4th of '84. He was born in Italy in 1899, he

         19  died of 84 years old. He was a former Assemblyman

         20  co-sponsored in 1955 regarding Mitchell Lama at the

         21  time which was middle-income housing law. He moved

         22  his family to Brooklyn in 1904. Under the law he

         23  encouraged building apartments for middle-income

         24  tenants. More than 400 housing projects and more

         25  than 160,000 families built in New York.
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          2                 A few years after that Mitchell Lama,

          3  he said that a hearing on the program stated "I am

          4  absolutely proud. I'm sorry to see what is happening

          5  to save all the projects, but we had a very good

          6  intention."

          7                 All I'm basically saying is that,

          8  it's better if we have something to start from.

          9  There may be a lot of people that don't agree with

         10  the bill and feel it's a waste of time --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Sum up.

         12                 MS. PECK: But we have to start

         13  somewhere.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Madam Chair,

         17  just I appreciate the last witness' testimony, I

         18  just need to clarify and I really do appreciate the

         19  benefit of your experience. I just need to clarify

         20  this bill, making clear, Madam Chair, that this bill

         21  would impact an effective benefit, thousands of

         22  units in many developments beyond Independence

         23  Plaza, in addition to IPN. We heard testimony from a

         24  gentleman from Lands End 1, which is on the lower

         25  east side, which is in the precise same situation as
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          2  Independence Plaza, and these two are just in Lower

          3  Manhattan. We know there are thousands, as HPD

          4  itself testified, beyond, who would be directly

          5  covered by this bill, and we need to keep that in

          6  mind.

          7                 Thank you very much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay, we're

          9  down to two last folks to testify. Jeanine Buckley,

         10  Margaret O'Connor. No Margaret O'Connor?

         11                 Jeanine, you're by yourself. You're

         12  all alone.

         13                 MS. BUCKLEY: Good evening, and thank

         14  you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Pull it a

         16  little closer to yourself.

         17                 MS. BUCKLEY: Good evening to

         18  everyone, and thank you.

         19                 Madam Chair, the staff, Mr. Gerson,

         20  my name is Jeanine Buckley and I'm from Heywood

         21  Tower Upper Manhattan. We just bought out October

         22  22nd, 2003. We are working on our lease right now.

         23  I'm here because of Julie, Emily and IPN, also

         24  Louise Sanchez, who helped all of those, and tenants

         25  who helped us. As Rose said, Glenn Gardens is a
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          2  horror. We have lost at least ten people to death

          3  from stress, the illness, et cetera. We believe the

          4  horror of this so-called buy-out and the issue of

          5  losing your home has caused a lot of problem in that

          6  building.

          7                 We are in somewhat, I guess you would

          8  say lucky in a sense that the owner and her staff,

          9  we worked something out but we are sort of

         10  traumatized at the point, because the sticky

         11  voucher, as the young lady said, doesn't always

         12  protect you. It's just, it's a sticky voucher. If

         13  your income go up, you're out of the program. You're

         14  paying all this rent. And the market rent up on the

         15  upper west side is frightening.

         16                 I think part of the leadership, not

         17  just the owners we're talking about with

         18  Mitchell-Lama, but we have a non-for-profit

         19  organization like Columbia University. That's

         20  another problem people having looked at, is raising

         21  their rent sky high, and a lot of tenants are

         22  homeless.

         23                 We came out of the program, we're not

         24  safe yet. So we need the legislation 523. Any other

         25  number you want to name, we do need it, and I
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          2  applaud IPN, Julie, Emily, all of you guys for

          3  starting to take the fight, and we keep it together

          4  and we lobby in Albany in March with the

          5  Mitchell-Lama Coalition, and other groups. Let's

          6  stick together, okay? Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you

          8  very much.

          9                 Harriet Grimm, are you somewhere?

         10  This really is the last one.

         11                 MS. GRIMM: Thank you. Very briefly.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: And you're

         13  only there because Council Member Gerson threatened

         14  me.

         15                 MS. GRIMM: Thank you, Councilman.

         16  Thank you.

         17                 My name is Harriet Grimm. I'm a

         18  resident of IPN. I just want to very briefly say

         19  that ten years ago my partner and I were living in

         20  the East Village in a one-bedroom apartment, rent

         21  stabilized, paying 400 plus dollars a month, when

         22  the letter came in from Independence Plaza saying

         23  that finally we were up on the wait list for a

         24  studio apartment, my partner was thrilled. She had

         25  been on the waiting list for ten years.
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          2                 I have to say what a pleasure it's

          3  been to be a member, not only a resident of IPN but

          4  be a member of the community there. It's without

          5  question possibly, maybe with the exception of

          6  Central Park, one of the finest and most successful

          7  cultural experiments of the 20th Century. To live at

          8  Independence Plaza means to live in a community that

          9  is multi-generational and diverse in very possible

         10  way. My partner and I are professionals but by no

         11  means wealthy. She works for the State Court system

         12  and I'm a landscape architect.

         13                 Five years ago, when our daughter was

         14  born, it was just such an exciting thing to just be

         15  fully embraced into the IPN community. She's now at

         16  student at PS 234, we're active with the PTA, I'm a

         17  member of the Washington Market Park Board. I think

         18  what I want to say, in the wake of 9/11, you know,

         19  we've remained there and if there's a way that this

         20  bill can bring some equity between, some balance in

         21  the value between what a lot of people here have

         22  described, and I call it community equity, it's what

         23  we bring to keep this community a truly New York,

         24  with truly New York vitality, and balance that

         25  against the real estate equity and the issues that
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          2  we're now facing that could force us out.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you.

          5                 I would like to thank, of course,

          6  Councilman Kendall Stewart, who by the way doesn't

          7  even have any Mitchell-Lamas in his district, but

          8  thank you for staying to the bitter end. And, of

          9  course, Council Member Gerson, and he would like to

         10  acknowledge some folks who are here but are not

         11  speaking.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you.

         13  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.

         14                 First of all, I want to conclude

         15  where I began by acknowledging and thanking you for

         16  your conduct of this hearing and for your commitment

         17  to the issue, and I look forward to working with you

         18  to resolve a problem.

         19                 We are fortunate to have Council

         20  Member Provenzano as Chair of our Housing Committee,

         21  and I thank you very much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Not everybody

         23  feels that way, but thank you.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I want to

         25  thank especially the members of my community, all of
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          2  them and those who are still present. The Chair

          3  really does have an obligation to conclude the

          4  hearing within a time which we have exceeded, and

          5  there are events and it is frustrating that not

          6  everyone is able to testify, and you should know the

          7  Chair really did bend the rule quite considerably of

          8  limiting the number of speakers from the same

          9  complex or organization, but we do want to

         10  acknowledge Ms. Rivera, Mr. High Wolff, Mr. Edmund

         11  Rosner, and Ms. Gloria Orlando, as well as other

         12  folks who have remained. I assure you. I assure you,

         13  you're voices, your points will be heard, and you at

         14  any time, formally or informally, could give your

         15  testimony directly to your Councilperson, and I

         16  assure you it will be acted upon and fully

         17  incorporated.

         18                 Let me just conclude, this is a

         19  historic beginning to a challenging and historic

         20  battle. You all are to be congratulated for leading

         21  the effort which will benefit your homes, your

         22  community and indeed our entire City. When the

         23  history of this is written, it will record that once

         24  again you all stepped up to the plate in a time of

         25  need, not in legitimate self-interest, but
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          2  transcending self-interest, in the interest of our

          3  City keeping it affordable and diverse for all of

          4  us.

          5                 Let's keep our hopes high, and,

          6  together, if we remain united, together I am

          7  confident we will prevail. And because not to

          8  prevail is unacceptable, and not just, and we will

          9  overcome and we will win on this. I assure you.

         10                 One final note, Madam Chair, to all

         11  present, and I also want to thank my colleague Dr.

         12  Kendall Stewart, who has from the very beginning

         13  been very supportive of Lower Manhattan and the

         14  needs of the entire City, thank you.

         15                 So, those of you who have remained,

         16  you get the extra benefit of a special invitation.

         17  In about an hour and a half in these Chambers

         18  there's going to be a celebration of the Indian

         19  Holiday Devalle, which will include entertainment

         20  and food, and you're all welcome to remain and

         21  celebrate the Devalle here in Council Chambers.

         22  Thank you very much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Sure. That's

         24  why you stayed with me. Because he knew he was

         25  getting food. Otherwise I would be sitting here by
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          2  myself.

          3                 Thank all of you. You were a good

          4  hearing, good folks, and you have a great Council

          5  Member in Council Member Gerson.

          6                 This meeting is adjourned.

          7                 (The following written testimony was

          8  read into the record.)

          9

         10  Written Testimony Of:

         11  WTC Residents Coalition (WTCRC)

         12

         13  City Council Hearing on Mitchell-Lama Bill - October

         14  29, 2003

         15

         16                 WTCRC is coalition of resident

         17  (tenant/condo/coop/neighborhood) associations in

         18  Lower Manhattan representing about 30,000 residents.

         19  Independence Plaza is a core, active member and has

         20  been involved in the recovery and revitalization of

         21  Lower Manhattan.

         22                 Independence Plaza has been a pioneer

         23  in the development of Tribeca and Lower Manhattan

         24  for over 30 years (even before there was a BPC) and

         25  is critical to maintaining the community's diversity
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          2  and stable population.

          3                 Clearly, it's more cost effective and

          4  beneficial to preserve existing affordable housing

          5  than to develop new affordable housing.

          6                 Independence Plaza has been

          7  instrumental in the development of parks (including

          8  Hudson River Park), schools (PS 234), little league,

          9  and other vital community services.

         10                 City Council must do all it can to

         11  preserve Independence Plaza as affordable housing

         12  and to minimize the disruption to the lives of

         13  existing tenants due to the impending buyout

         14  situation.

         15                 We appreciate the substantial support

         16  already provided by Speaker Miller, City Councilman

         17  Alan Gerson, and the City Council as a whole and

         18  look forward to a fair deal for all parties

         19  involved.

         20

         21

         22  Written Testimony Of:

         23  Dina Levy

         24  Urban Homesteading Assistance Board (UHAB) to the

         25  Housing and Buildings Committee of the New York City
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          2  Council

          3

          4  October 29, 2003

          5

          6                 UHAB strongly supports the

          7  preservation of all existing affordable housing. We

          8  advocate for legislative and regulatory policies

          9  that provide residents with resources that allow

         10  them to effectively negotiate the conversion of

         11  their buildings into affordable, resident-controlled

         12  cooperatives.

         13                 While protections for residents,

         14  including allocation of Section 8 Vouchers,

         15  following the deregulation of affordability

         16  restrictions of low and moderate income housing is

         17  crucial and necessary, we would like to discuss the

         18  problems that result when Federal, State and Local

         19  Agencies use "Enhanced" or "Sticky" Vouchers as an

         20  alternative to preserving the existing affordable

         21  housing stock.

         22                 -"Weeding Out" Leaves Many Residents

         23  Vulnerable: Enhanced Vouchers are only allocated to

         24  residents following a lengthy and cumbersome

         25  certification process usually administered by the
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          2  local Housing Authority. (This is true even for

          3  residents who were living under a Project-Based

          4  Section 8 prior to deregulation.)

          5                 Several factors that arise during the

          6  certification process can result in denying a family

          7  access to the Voucher. Grounds for denial include;

          8  anyone in family having committed a felony in the

          9  past 6 years; the family resides in either an

         10  over-crowded or over housed unit; a claim that the

         11  resident provided incorrect information on previous

         12  Section 8 certification forms.

         13                 Residents are Punished Due to

         14  Delinquent Landlords: In order to utilize an

         15  Enhanced Voucher, the unit must pass a physical

         16  inspection. When owners fail to maintain units in

         17  accordance with basic Housing Quality Standards,

         18  residents must independently find alternative

         19  housing in order to utilize their Vouchers.

         20                 When a resident is forced to leave

         21  their unit due to poor physical conditions, the

         22  Voucher loses its "Enhanced" status. This subjects

         23  families to two separate and extremely difficult

         24  burdens; 1) To identify an alternative housing

         25  option within a restricted timeline (maximum of 120
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          2  days), and 2) Finding an apartment where the rent

          3  falls within the Payment Standard set by the local

          4  Housing Authority.

          5                 - No Enforcement of Residents Right

          6  to Remain: Federal rules guarantee residents the

          7  right to remain at a property with Enhanced Vouchers

          8  for at least one year following deregulation.

          9  However, many property owners violate this agreement

         10  and refuse to accept the Vouchers.

         11                 HUD publicly claims an inability to

         12  enforce this rule, arguing that their oversight

         13  authority expires when an owner concludes or

         14  terminates his use restrictions. This has left

         15  numerous tenant associations no choice but to find

         16  pro bono legal assistance and undertake long and

         17  traumatic legal battles to avoid being forced out of

         18  their homes.

         19                 In High Cost Markets, Enhanced

         20  Vouchers Reduce the Aggregate Number of Families who

         21  Receive Subsidy: Enhanced Vouchers have no spending

         22  cap. Following deregulation, landlords have been

         23  known to increase rents by as much as 500 percent in

         24  "hot" housing markets. Subsequently, local housing

         25  agencies must spend a huge portion of their federal
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          2  funding allocation to subsidize tenants who receive

          3  Enhanced Vouchers. These expenditures dramatically

          4  deplete the local funding pools for tenant-based

          5  subsidy. The Federal Government is now proposing the

          6  first ever reduction in Section 8 funding

          7  allocations to municipalities around the country.

          8  This, coupled with the cost of funding Enhanced

          9  Vouchers in New York City's more expensive

         10  neighborhoods will severely decrease the number of

         11  families who will receive tenant-based Section 8

         12  subsidy in New York City.

         13                 - Enhanced Vouchers Only Kick-In

         14  Above 30%: Buildings that were subsidized via

         15  mortgage subsidies or through Interest reduction

         16  Payments, rather than through Project Based Section

         17  8 contracts, carry below market rents that are often

         18  less than 30% of the renter's income. Following

         19  deregulation, Enhanced Vouchers are only allocated

         20  to tenants if a subsequent rent increase results in

         21  a rent that exceeds 30% of the residents' monthly

         22  income. Any increase up to 30% has to be covered out

         23  of pocket by the tenant. In some cases tenants have

         24  been forced to pay out of pocket as much as $400

         25  more per month without the benefit of any rental
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          2  assistance.

          3

          4

          5  Written Testimony Of:

          6  Bertha Lewis

          7

          8  To the City Council Committee on Housing and

          9  Buildings

         10  Regarding Intro 523

         11  The Mitchell-Lama Conversion Protection Bill

         12

         13  October 29, 2003

         14

         15                 My name is Bertha Lewis.

         16                 I appear today wearing several hats:

         17  Executive Director of ACORN, Co-Chair of the Working

         18  Families Party, Chair of the Campaign to Preserve

         19  Affordable Housing. Perhaps my most important hat,

         20  so to speak, is the one I wear every day - that of a

         21  working woman of modest means who has experienced

         22  firsthand the struggle to find a decent place to

         23  live, to combat segregated housing, segregated,

         24  inferior schooling, and all the rest of the evils

         25  that one normally associates with the Deep South.
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          2  But these are evils which are very much alive and

          3  well right here in New York City -- and it's getting

          4  worse.

          5                 Affordable Housing and Integrated

          6  Neighborhoods and Schools: Mitchell-Lama

          7                 Fighting this evil begins with

          8  providing decent housing that working, moderate and

          9  middle income families of every race and ethnicity

         10  can afford to live in. If we had such housing, we'd

         11  have real neighborhoods, and we'd have naturally

         12  integrated public schools that give all kids a

         13  better chance to succeed.

         14                 In fact -- though they are rare -- we

         15  do have some success stories. Mitchell-Lama is one

         16  of them. It is perhaps the nation's most successful

         17  affordable housing program. Yet, the

         18  Republican-dominated federal, state and city

         19  governments stand by while the Mitchell-Lama

         20  developments that were 95% financed by our taxes are

         21  privatized. We already have lost more than fifty

         22  Mitchell-Lama developments through these so-called

         23  buyouts. Tens of thousands of families have been

         24  banished, or soon will be banished from the

         25  neighborhoods they built and the homes they have
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          2  lived in for 25 years and more.

          3                 Taxpayer Money, Windfall Profits, No

          4  Accountability: Also Mitchell-Lama

          5                 In some cases the owner-developers

          6  double and triple rents virtually overnight. And

          7  even the best settlements -- 9% per year increases

          8  for Waterside tenants -- soon reach untenable levels

          9  for all but the wealthiest people. Folks who lived

         10  in these developments were given no notice and no

         11  warning that this was even a possibility. They are

         12  forced out at the expiration of their leases, or

         13  required to pay more than 50% of their incomes to

         14  hang on to their homes, and all for the benefit of a

         15  handful of real estate developers who reap windfall

         16  profits.

         17                 Why do I say "windfall profits?" It

         18  is because they took no risks. The taxpayers bore

         19  95% of the finance and acquisition costs. The

         20  government gave the developers enormous personal tax

         21  shelters. The government guaranteed their returns on

         22  equity. And in most cases, HPD gave these same

         23  developers no-complete management contracts for

         24  hundreds of thousands of dollars per year.

         25                 .
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          2                 The then New York City Comptroller

          3  Alan Hevesi reported that many of these

          4  Mitchell-Lama developments were poorly managed and

          5  had been allowed to deteriorate.

          6                 Financial and physical oversight was

          7  and in many cases remains non-existent. But the

          8  tenants didn't need the Comptroller to tell them

          9  these things. The City Council itself recently held

         10  an oversight hearing at which some of these horror

         11  stories came to light. But when they decide to leave

         12  the program, under current regulations of "twenty

         13  years and out", they don't even have to prove that

         14  they complied with Mitchell-Lama during those twenty

         15  years. Clearly, many did not. One of the overlooked

         16  benefits of this legislation is that those owners

         17  who envision leaving the program may well decide to

         18  bring their developments into compliance -- in other

         19  words to provide the safe, clean and affordable

         20  housing they pledged to provide -- lest they face

         21  this issue at the very time they want out.

         22                 Building vs. Preservation.

         23                 Nobody would argue that we don't need

         24  to build more affordable housing. But the pitiful

         25  number -- 300 apartments built at a cost of
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          2  $50,000,000 -- that the Mayor trumpets and the media

          3  echoes as an affordable housing program for lower

          4  Manhattan -- is just that -- pitiful. It's too

          5  little; it's too late, and it isn't a program. We

          6  need more, much more affordable housing. We need it

          7  all over the City -- and we need it now.

          8                 The City's fiscal problems stretch as

          9  far as the eye can see. We won't get enough

         10  affordable housing built to accommodate a fraction

         11  of what the City needs. And that isn't to criticize

         12  the Mayor for authorizing the construction of 300

         13  new units. What I am critical of is the focus on

         14  building new housing at many times the cost of

         15  preserving what we already have. It makes no sense.

         16                 The Legislation and the Politics

         17                 Today, you have a chance to do

         18  something of real importance to help the working

         19  people of this City -- to help all the people of

         20  this City.

         21                 I refer, of course, to Council Intro

         22  523. We all recognize that some of the richest and

         23  most connected people in this City are resisting

         24  this bill. I applaud Council Speaker Miller and all

         25  the bill's sponsors for accepting the challenge. In
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          2  my view, this struggle is an acid test of whether

          3  the government that we elect can still be responsive

          4  to the most basic needs of the working families of

          5  this City -- affordable housing -- or will it

          6  respond only to the greed of a handful of immensely

          7  wealthy people who just want more of what they

          8  already have so much of. Why do we need the City

          9  council to pass this legislation immediately?

         10                 The State is under the terrible reign

         11  of a deeply conservative Republican Governor. He is

         12  disguised as a benign, compassionate, even

         13  mild-mannered man, but he does little for working

         14  people, and the little that he has done, has been

         15  only a temporary sop to gain some votes right before

         16  an election. What he gives with one hand, he takes

         17  away with another as soon as the election is over.

         18  We have a Republican State Senate that obstructs

         19  progressive measures for working families. And

         20  finally, we have a Democratic-controlled Assembly,

         21  which doesn't seem to be able to negotiate any

         22  protections for Mitchell-Lama tenants.

         23                 Thus far our Republican Mayor has

         24  been quiet on this issue, preferring instead to pour

         25  millions of personal dollars into selling New
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          2  Yorkers some Republican snake oil in the form of a

          3  Charter amendment. In the name of nonpartisanship,

          4  that amendment would remove the stigma of running as

          5  a Republican in New York City. And right now, it

          6  should be a stigma. It isn't nonpartisanship that he

          7  and the Republican Party seek through this

          8  amendment. Rather, it is non-accountability for

          9  Republican policies, programs, and candidates that

         10  are transforming our City into a gated community for

         11  rich people. Only the City Council has stepped up to

         12  the plate.

         13                 This legislation, in my view, is by

         14  far the best opportunity to preserve what remains of

         15  decent, affordable housing for moderate income

         16  people. It may be the only opportunity to do so. Why

         17  do I think so?

         18                 No Affordable Housing Preservation is

         19  Possible Without Giving Tenants Some Negotiating

         20  Leverage

         21                 I've already alluded to the fact that

         22  a program of building new affordable housing -- as

         23  much as I would like to see it happen -- cannot

         24  address the shortfall. It is equally obvious that

         25  building affordable housing in the future does not
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          2  protect the tenants who already live in such

          3  housing. Current tenants need and deserve to be

          4  protected against these predatory buyouts. This can

          5  only be done -- and affordable housing preservation

          6  is only possible -- through a bill that gives

          7  tenants something with which to negotiate at buyout

          8  time. This is because all Mitchell-Lama buyouts end

          9  in negotiated settlements.

         10                 The dynamics of the Mitchell-Lama

         11  buyout process are well-known. They are rooted in

         12  the history of why these developments were built in

         13  the first place. Briefly, in the 1970's, they were

         14  sited in undesirable neighborhoods. Moderate income

         15  residents were attracted by affordable, regulated

         16  rent.

         17                 The tenants fought for the parks,

         18  schools, traffic lights, and other amenities that

         19  transformed these once undesirable neighborhoods

         20  into so-called gentrified areas. Ironically, and

         21  unbeknownst to them what they were fighting for were

         22  other people's amenities and landlord profits. They

         23  just weren't told that when the time came, the

         24  government would treat them as though they were

         25  yesterday's news.
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          2                 Real estate values rose. Owners

          3  calculated that their rent rolls could be increased

          4  dramatically. Measured even against the tax

          5  abatements, low interest mortgages, and other

          6  benefits they enjoyed as Limited Profit Housing

          7  Companies in the Mitchell-Lama rent regulations, and

          8  with the rent ceilings off, bring in tenants who can

          9  afford luxury prices.

         10                 Albany, at the urging of the real

         11  estate lobby, already had foreseen such a

         12  possibility: The law was amended to give

         13  owner-developers the right to prepay the subsidized

         14  mortgages and thereupon leave the program before the

         15  anticipated time, usually 40 or 50 years. The

         16  residents were never told; not even in the fine

         17  print of the leases, and to my knowledge, many

         18  tenants still do not know. Apparently, HPD doesn't

         19  seem to think they need to know that an owner is

         20  legally entitled to exit the Mitchell-Lama program

         21  after twenty years in it -- and one year's notice.

         22                 Not surprisingly, when the notices

         23  come, the tenants are devastated. Had they been told

         24  of the possibility that it could happen, they might

         25  not have moved in -- and at the time they did move
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          2  in, they were needed to fill the apartments and

          3  build the new neighborhoods.

          4                 When the notice comes, panic sets in.

          5  The tenants retain a lawyer. Because the law gives

          6  the owner the right to exit the program, the owner

          7  does not have to negotiate. Even litigation does

          8  little for the tenants except buy them some

          9  additional time. Eventually, a settlement is jammed

         10  down the tenants' throats: Take it or leave it. They

         11  have no negotiating leverage. They take the owner's

         12  offer to raise the rents a bit more gradually than

         13  would otherwise be the case. Rents rise to new

         14  market levels, and the development is no longer in

         15  our affordable housing inventory.

         16                 The scenario is as predictable as it

         17  is unconscionable. It is terrible public policy. And

         18  it is morally wrong. Tenant groups have beseeched

         19  Albany for relief. They get one-house bills,

         20  crocodile tears, and the back of the hand from the

         21  Republican-controlled Senate.

         22                 And that is why we are so pleased

         23  with the bold action that the Council is taking.

         24  This bill gives tenants some negotiating leverage.

         25  It gives HPD additional powers to work out
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          2  reasonable settlements -- if HPD wants to do so,

          3  which is always a big question in the minds of

          4  tenant-advocates -- and it even gives owners an

          5  incentive to negotiate. Unlike the present

          6  regulations, owners who reach settlements with

          7  tenants can leave the program immediately.

          8                 Others will discuss the details. I

          9  will conclude my remarks only by saying to all the

         10  Council members who are signed on to this bill --

         11  not a word of it should be changed to weaken it. If

         12  possible, it should be expanded in scope to include

         13  other subsidized housing. And for those members who

         14  are not yet signed on to the bill -- what are you

         15  waiting for?

         16                 The lawyers and the courts will

         17  decide the extent of what is possible for the

         18  Council to do -- what is morally right is not in

         19  question.

         20                 Thank you.

         21

         22

         23  Written Testimony Of:

         24  Eviction Intervention Services

         25  Homelessness Prevention

                                                            180

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2

          3  October 28, 2003

          4

          5  Re: Int. No. 532 - In relation to the withdrawal of

          6  city-supervised Mitchell-Lama developments from the

          7  Mitchell-Lama program.

          8                 Thank you for this opportunity for

          9  Eviction Intervention Services, a not-for-profit

         10  housing organization, to testify to the Committee on

         11  Housing and Buildings regarding the withdrawal of

         12  City-supervised Mitchell-Lama developments from the

         13  Mitchell-Lama program. EIS is dedicated to

         14  preventing homelessness by protecting and preserving

         15  available, affordable housing stock. Our clients are

         16  low-to-moderate income tenants and we have had

         17  experience assisting numerous Mitchell-Lama tenants

         18  in both city-based and state-based Mitchell-Lama

         19  buildings.

         20                 EIS applauds your decision to amend

         21  the administrative code of the City of New York, in

         22  relation to the withdrawal of city-supervised

         23  Mitchell-Lama developments from the Mitchell-Lama

         24  program. EIS believes that it is vitally important

         25  to protect the Mitchell-Lama tenants in their
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          2  current housing. The social damage incurred by the

          3  recent buyouts is insupportable. In addition, we

          4  urge the Committee to consider state-based

          5  Mitchell-Lamas located in New York City as part of

          6  your study.

          7                 Since 9/11, the need for affordable

          8  housing has come into public focus. The need has,

          9  however, been acute for some time. In 1988,

         10  homelessness had reached an all-time high at 25,000

         11  seeking shelter nightly, abated for several years

         12  and has now re-emerged more fiercely than ever. The

         13  official figure is 38,000 people seeking shelter

         14  nightly in New York City (not including those

         15  individuals who live outside the system.)

         16                 In the past two years, we have seen

         17  an increase in the number of clients seeking our

         18  help because they were about to lose their homes.

         19  While we do not gather statistics on this particular

         20  aspect of our work, we do keep records of counseling

         21  and referral activity. All of our intake workers

         22  have also noted an increase in the number of people

         23  requesting our help who had been good wage earners

         24  -= i.e. in the $40,000-$50,000 range prior to the

         25  crisis which brought them destitute to our office.
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          2                 This change in demographic reflects

          3  the downsizing, layoffs, restructuring, high cost of

          4  medical care, and corruption in certain sectors, for

          5  example, financial, seen in the greater society.

          6                 Typically, a moderate-income or

          7  middle-income client comes to EIS 18 months after

          8  the crisis, when savings accounts, pensions, and

          9  retirement accounts have been used up and when there

         10  are no more loans available to her. This client is

         11  used to living in an apartment, which costs from

         12  $1,200-$2,000 per month. Now she needs one for $750.

         13                 Our job at EIS is to find a solution

         14  to the housing crisis of a client. Again and again

         15  we hear ourselves saying, "you need to move to an

         16  affordable apartment, AND there aren't any."

         17                 Mitchell-Lama apartments have housed

         18  individuals and families, who have served the City

         19  and made it possible for them to live near work and

         20  schools. We are accustomed to thinking they are

         21  making their way up the ladder; however, the ladder

         22  goes both ways.

         23                 One model, which has worked for a

         24  small but significant number of clients, is the

         25  Roosevelt Island Mitchell-Lama system. Because the
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          2  buildings were created to house low-to-moderate

          3  income tenants, problems like having to lower rent

          4  costs or move can frequently be handled internally

          5  by income recertification or a move to a

          6  cheaper/smaller apartment.

          7                 This system is a good one. What is

          8  not good is the creation of apartments that house

          9  tenants for a limited period only, after which the

         10  tenants lose - not just their dwelling  - which is

         11  very important - but their community, sense of place

         12  and standing in that community.

         13                 In summary: from our daily activities

         14  in the community, it is apparent to us that we need

         15  more low-to-moderate income housing. Building more

         16  housing is urgently needed and should be pursued.

         17  But it is fundamentally wrong to evict

         18  low-to-moderate income tenants from their homes even

         19  though Mitchell-Lama permits the owners a buy-out

         20  after 20 years. New developments must be encouraged,

         21  but we hope that this unfortunate model is

         22  discouraged, where developers provide tenants

         23  affordable housing for the benefit of the City and

         24  the owners, only to make those tenants and their

         25  families homeless 20 years later.
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          2                 There are some issues that cannot be

          3  entirely directed by the bottom line and this is one

          4  of them. There is no price that can be placed on the

          5  integrated communities grown by the Mitchell-Lama

          6  buildings throughout the City. Therefore, requiring

          7  owners to consider the community's needs in advance

          8  of buyout must be supported. Eviction Intervention

          9  Services encourages you to include as well New York

         10  State Mitchell-Lama developments that are within the

         11  City limits.

         12                 Karen Ingenthron, Executive Director

         13

         14

         15  Written

         16  Testimony Of:

         17  Brad Lander

         18  Pratt Institute Center for Community and

         19  Environmental Development

         20  379 DeKalb Avenue

         21  Brooklyn, New York 11205

         22

         23  Testimony of Brad Lander on the Mitchell-Lama

         24  Conversion Protection Bill Intro No. 523 before the

         25  Committee on Housing & Buildings, Council of the
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          2  City of New York

          3

          4  Wednesday, October 29, 2003

          5

          6

          7                 Chair Provenzano, members of the

          8  committee, thank you very much for the opportunity

          9  to testify today on the Mitchell-Lama Conversion

         10  Protection Bill. I am Brad Lander, director of the

         11  Pratt Institute Center for Community and

         12  Environmental Development, a university-based center

         13  that provides technical assistance, policy research,

         14  and training to community development and affordable

         15  housing groups in NYC.

         16                 The Pratt Center has helped community

         17  organizations to create or preserve thousands of

         18  units of affordable housing. Prior to becoming the

         19  director of the Pratt Center, I served for ten years

         20  as director of the Fifth Avenue Committee in

         21  Brooklyn, where we developed hundreds of units of

         22  affordable housing and preserved thousands more.

         23                 We are presented with the opportunity

         24  today, and in the months and years ahead, to show

         25  whether we care not only about the critical issue of
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          2  affordable housing for low, moderate, and middle

          3  income new workers - but also whether we are

          4  committed to diverse, mixed-income neighborhoods,

          5  and whether we believe that value created by public

          6  action should be shared broadly, rather than accrue

          7  only to a few developers. I am encouraged by the

          8  Council's action here, and I hope that both the

          9  Council and the Administration will work together on

         10  a comprehensive plan to address the problem of

         11  publicly subsidized housing that is at-risk of being

         12  lost as regulatory periods expire.

         13                 As you know well, New York City faces

         14  a deep housing crisis. Over 650,000 New York

         15  households face a "worst case housing need" - they

         16  cannot afford the housing they live in, or it is in

         17  very poor condition. In the 1990s, we added several

         18  hundred thousand new New Yorkers, but lost more

         19  housing that we created. Homelessness is at an

         20  all-time high, vacancy rates are at their lowest

         21  point in a decade, and the waiting lists for public

         22  housing or housing choice vouchers are longer than

         23  they have ever been. While we welcome the Mayor's

         24  New Housing Marketplace plan, the housing crisis

         25  continues, especially for low- and moderate-income
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          2  households.

          3                 We cannot focus our efforts

          4  exclusively on creating new housing. If we do not

          5  address the critical issue of preserving existing

          6  affordable housing, our work to create more will be

          7  undone. New York has more than 200,000 units of

          8  existing, publicly-subsidized, privately-owned

          9  affordable housing. The majority of these are part

         10  of the Mitchell-Lama program, one of the most

         11  successful in our city's history, which created

         12  120,000 affordable cooperative and rental units.

         13  Unfortunately, many of these units - especially the

         14  rental units - are at serious risk of being lost as

         15  affordable housing.

         16                 We simply cannot afford to lose these

         17  affordable housing units that the City and State

         18  already worked so hard to create. Since October

         19  1996, private owners of publicly-subsidized

         20  buildings containing 1,800 apartments have opted out

         21  of agreements to provide affordable housing. Just

         22  last month, another 42 working families at 20 Henry

         23  Street in Brooklyn Heights learned they would be

         24  evicted by an owner who is converting his building

         25  to market rate housing. At present, another eight
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          2  buildings with over 3,000 units are at immediate

          3  risk of conversion.

          4                 This has become a classic affordable

          5  housing problem, and one which is ironically created

          6  by the very success of the affordable housing

          7  development programs it seems to make sense, when we

          8  seek to induce developers to create affordable

          9  housing, to make the requirement of affordability

         10  one of limited duration -- usually 20 or 30 years.

         11  But in so many cases it leads precisely to this

         12  ultimate problem of displacement. In many

         13  neighborhoods, these years of development will have

         14  caused significant escalation of property values,

         15  leaving market rate rents far beyond what tenants in

         16  the subsidized buildings are paying, or could

         17  afford.

         18                 When developers are released from

         19  their obligations, they can make far more money by

         20  displacing existing low or moderate income residents

         21  in favor of wealthier people who can pay market-rate

         22  housing prices.

         23                 I believe it is important to keep

         24  three things in mind:

         25                 - First, it was public action -
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          2  extensive public investment in housing - that in

          3  many cases successfully turned around neighborhoods,

          4  reduced crime and contributed to the development of

          5  the very market forces we experience today. We

          6  should not allow the success of progressive public

          7  action a generation ago to enable a few private

          8  owners to make substantial profits by displacing

          9  thousands of people. This was publicly-created

         10  value, and it should remain publicly-shared benefit.

         11                 - Second, we should not allow the

         12  individuals and families who helped create value in

         13  these communities to fall victim to the success of

         14  the neighborhoods they made.

         15                 - Finally, if we care about

         16  preventing hyper-segregation, we have no choice but

         17  to act. The loss of these units will mean the

         18  displacement of low, moderate, and middle income

         19  households from many parts of the city. I believe

         20  that the diversity this program has created in many

         21  neighborhoods is fundamental to the soul of the

         22  city. Without action, gentrification and market

         23  pressures will lead not only to thousands of

         24  families losing their homes, but to a segregated and

         25  fractured city.
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          2                 On this point, it is worth noting

          3  that many of these units are located in lower

          4  Manhattan. In the period since September 11th, 2001,

          5  many people - including Mayor Bloomberg - have

          6  talked about the importance of redeveloping Lower

          7  Manhattan as a mixed-use, mixed-income community,

          8  with affordable housing as a key component.

          9                 However, it will be very expensive to

         10  create new affordable units for low or moderate

         11  income families in Lower Manhattan.

         12                 The $50 million which the LMDC

         13  committed recently, at the mayor's request, will

         14  create only a few hundred new units of affordable

         15  housing. At the same time, there are over 11,000

         16  units of privately-owned, publicly-subsidized

         17  housing below 14th Street, and many of them are

         18  at-risk of loss to market pressure. If we truly want

         19  a vibrant, diverse, mixed-income community as part

         20  of our plan to honor the loss and sacrifice of

         21  September 11th, we simply must preserve these units.

         22                 Fortunately, there are things we can

         23  do. Cities around the country are thoughtfully

         24  confronting the challenging of preserving publicly

         25  subsidized housing. In San Francisco, an owner
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          2  converting a building with an expiring subsidy to

          3  market rate must provide a four-year rent subsidy to

          4  tenants being displaced.

          5                 In addition, there is a mandatory

          6  14-month notice period, during which the owner

          7  cannot sell the building, other than to an approved

          8  "preservation buyer," who will preserve the units

          9  as affordable housing. Other cities, including

         10  Portland and Denver, provide for one-year notice

         11  periods, during which the City may pursue

         12  preservation through purchase or condemnation. In

         13  Portland, the city itself provides a rent subsidy to

         14  displaced tenants.

         15                 Intro 523 is a good first step. It

         16  will protect the developments and tenants currently

         17  at risk and allow the city to properly assess and

         18  prepare for the impacts of proposed buy-outs and

         19  prevent displacement.

         20                 I also deeply hope that the Council

         21  and the Bloomberg Administration will step forward,

         22  and work closely with both state and federal housing

         23  agencies, to develop an aggressive and comprehensive

         24  plan for preserving publicly-subsidized housing. In

         25  addition to those that are at risk of being
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          2  converted to market-rate housing, there are many

          3  that are at risk of abandonment, in neighborhoods,

          4  where current market rents are below the federal

          5  Fair Market Rents (FMR). Many of these buildings are

          6  already suffering from physical distress due to

          7  insufficient maintenance and repair.

          8                 It should be our goal to preserve

          9  every single one of the 200,000 existing subsidized

         10  units, as we work to create tens of thousands more.

         11  I welcome today's action, as a first step toward

         12  this critical goal of preserving housing for low,

         13  moderate and middle income families; of making sure

         14  that prosperity created by public action is shared,

         15  not hoarded; and preserving the diversity that helps

         16  to make our neighborhoods and our city great.

         17                 Thank you for this opportunity.

         18                 (Hearing concluded at 4:22 p.m.)
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          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 29th day of October 2003.
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